Illinois State University

ISU ReD: Research and eData

Theses and Dissertations

4-19-2018

Out of the Shell: Exploring The Phagocytic Capabilities of the B Cell and Isolated Lymphoid Follicle-lie Structures in the Red-Eared Slider, Trachemys Scripta

Marc A. Ashford Jr. Illinois State University, mashford142@yahoo.com

Follow this and additional works at: https://ir.library.illinoisstate.edu/etd

Part of the Allergy and Immunology Commons, Immunology and Infectious Disease Commons, Medical Immunology Commons, and the Physiology Commons

Recommended Citation

Ashford Jr., Marc A., "Out of the Shell: Exploring The Phagocytic Capabilities of the B Cell and Isolated Lymphoid Follicle-lie Structures in the Red-Eared Slider, Trachemys Scripta" (2018). *Theses and Dissertations*. 939.

https://ir.library.illinoisstate.edu/etd/939

This Thesis is brought to you for free and open access by ISU ReD: Research and eData. It has been accepted for inclusion in Theses and Dissertations by an authorized administrator of ISU ReD: Research and eData. For more information, please contact ISUReD@ilstu.edu.



OUT OF THE SHELL: EXPLORING THE PHAGOCYTIC CAPABILITIES OF THE B CELL AND ISOLATED LYMPHOID FOLLICLE-LIKE STRUCTURES IN THE RED-EARED SLIDER, *TRACHEMYS SCRIPTA*

MARC A. ASHFORD JR.

88 Pages

Management of immunity is crucial for survival in all living organisms. While there is a large amount of research for established model organisms, such as the mouse model, much less is known about reptiles. When compared to immunity in mammals, we discover many differences such as susceptibility to certain pathogens, alteration of immune processes due to environmental temperature, the total absence of certain lymphoid organs contained in mammals, among many others. Despite this, the reptile has shown in many studies that they are worthy systems to study immunity in an evolutionary perspective and recent studies may show that they may have therapeutic use as well. Of particular interest to our lab is the management of gut mucosal immunity and phagocytic B cells in *Trachmys scripta*, commonly known as the red-eared slider. The thesis work reported here focuses on projects examining both of these. Reptiles lack many lymphoid structures within the gut cavity that are crucial for maintaining homeostasis and survival in mammals. Preliminary work examining lymphoid aggregates in hatchling T. scripta, suggested that they may contain lymphoid structures similar to those known as isolated lymphoid follicles in mammals. Our investigation determined that these structures, like the isolated lymphoid follicle, are composed of B cell aggregates, able to respond to enteric bacteria colonization, and increase in quantity as you progress distally within



the small intestine. It is important to note that is the first time these B cell structures have been shown in a reptile. We also sought to understand the phagocytic capabilities of B cell in the redeared slider. We hoped to learn if these cells possessed the ability to recognized different pathogens (Gram (-/+) and fungal particles), determine the sizes limitations of consumed particles, and also whether they had regulatory qualities. Unfortunately, we encountered many technical difficulties coupled with issues in the bioparticles particles we chose, which resulted in the absence of any productive data collection. It is our hope to pursue this study in the future. Overall, these studies aid in the understanding of the reptile immune system.

KEYWORDS: B cell; Reptile; Mucosal Immunity; Turtle; Immunology; Phagocytosis



OUT OF THE SHELL: EXPLORING THE PHAGOCYTIC CAPABILITIES OF THE B CELL AND ISOLATED LYMPHOID FOLLICLE-LIKE STRUCTURES IN THE RED-EARED SLIDER, *TRACHEMYS SCRIPTA*

MARC A. ASHFORD JR.

A Thesis Submitted in Partial Fulfillment of the Requirements for the Degree of

MASTER OF SCIENCE

School of Biological Sciences

ILLINOIS STATE UNIVERSITY



© 2018 Marc A. Ashford Jr.



OUT OF THE SHELL: EXPLORING THE PHAGOCYTIC CAPABILITIES OF THE B CELL AND ISOLATED LYMPHOID FOLLICLE-LIKE STRUCTURES IN THE RED-EARED SLIDER, *TRACHEMYS SCRIPTA*

MARC A. ASHFORD JR.

COMMITTEE MEMBERS:

Rachel M. Bowden, Co-Chair

Laura A. Vogel, Co-Chair

Ben M. Sadd

Nathan T. Mortimer



ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

I would first like to thank both of my Co-PIs, Dr. Laura Vogel and Dr. Rachel Bowden for giving me the opportunity to work with them on this wonderful journey into the realm of research and turtles. This work would not have been possible without their endless amounts of support and encouragement. The door to their offices were always open whenever I ran into trouble in the lab or had a question about my research or writing. Secondly, I would like to thank all of my past and present lab members for their contributions both in the lab and out in the field; Ryan Paitz, Amanda Wilson Carter, Anthony "Tony" Breitenbach, Justin Dillard, Rosario Marroquin-Flores, and all others who aided in fieldwork. There were many good times had in the field and I'll never forget the memories made in the canoe. I would also like to thank the undergraduates who aided in my thesis work, Jake Jasinski, and Rachel Angles.

Next, I would like to thank both of my parents for listening to me vent and providing me with unfailing support and continuous encouragement throughout my years of study. I would like to give a special thanks to both of my elder sisters, Fatima and Rachelle "Chelle". Fatima, you've always challenged me to pursue my thirst for knowledge and continue to push me to be the best version of myself. Chelle, without you I doubt I would have made it to college or even this far. Your support and wisdom is something that I very much cherish and am lucky to have. Additionally, many thanks are owed to my committee member, Dr. Ben Sadd, for not only being a great undergraduate research advisor, but continuing to support me as a committee member throughout my graduate work as well. Finally, I would like to thank my best friend Garrett for



www.manaraa.com

i

being a constant pillar of support throughout my life and my significant other, Colleen, for tolerating my constant talk about turtles.

M. A. A.



CONTENTS

	Page		
ACKNOWLEDGMENTS	i		
FIGURES	vi		
CHAPTER I: REPTILIAN IMMUNITY: THERE IS MORE THAN MEETS THE SCALE	1		
1 OVERVIEW	1		
2 STUDY SYSTEM	2		
3 INNATE IMMUNITY	5		
4 ADAPTIVE IMMUNITY	8		
4.1 Cell-Mediated Immunity	9		
4.2 Humoral Immunity	11		
5 GALT IMMUNITY	15		
6 CONCLUSION	17		
REFERENCES	20		
CHAPTER II: TRACHEMYS SCRIPTA HATCHLING EXPOSURE TO SALMONELLA ALTERS PRESENCE			
OF INTESTINAL LYMPHOID AGGREGATIONS	37		
ABSTRACT	37		
1 INTRODUCTION	38		
1.1 Management of Gut Mucosal Immunity in Mammals	38		
1.2 Reptilian Gut Mucosal Immunity	40		
2 MATERIALS AND METHODS	42		
2.1 Egg and Hatchling Care	42		



2.2 <i>Salmonella</i> Exposure	43		
2.3 Small Intestine Histology	44		
2.4 Whole-Mount Immunohistochemistry	44		
2.5 Spot Proportion Determination	45		
2.6 Statistical Analysis	46		
3 RESULTS	47		
3.1 Intestinal Histology Yielded ILF-like Structures	47		
3.2 ILF-Like Structures are more Abundant in the Distal Portion of the Intestine	47		
3.3 Prevalence of Salmonella Pre-inoculation	48		
3.4 Salmonella Exposure Increases ILF-like Aggregations	48		
4 DISCUSSION	49		
5 CONCLUSION	52		
REFERENCES	60		
CHAPTER III: CHARACTERIZATION OF THE PHAGOCYTIC CAPABILITIES OF THE T. SCRIPTA B			
CELL	67		
ABSTRACT	67		
1 INTRODUCTION	67		
1.1 Phagocytic B Cells In A Reptile	67		
2 MATERIALS AND METHODS	70		
2.1 Lymphocyte Collection and Preparation	70		
2.2 Phagocytic B cell Assay	71		
2.3 Bioparticles and Beads	72		



2.4 Microscopy	72
3 RESULTS	73
3.1 Bioparticles were too Bright for the BD FACSCalibur	73
3.2 Determination of Phagocytosis by Fluorescent and Confocal Microscopy	74
4 DISCUSSION	75
5 CONCLUSIONS	77
REFERENCES	84



FIGURES

Figure		Page
1.	A graphical representation of the experimental design using hatchling T. Scripta	
	in our study	53
2.	$7\mu m$ sliced histological sections of hatchling small intestines stained with H&E.	54
3.	Oil immersion (100X) of intestinal section containing lymphoid aggregates	55
4.	Clusters of B cells are present throughout hatchling intestines	56
5.	Frequency of B cell aggregates is increased in distal sections	57
6.	Prevalence of Salmonella in tested water samples before and after inoculation	58
7.	A higher proportion of spots were observed in hatchlings that were exposed to	
	Salmonella	59
8.	Sample flow cytometry analysis showing gating of cell/bead populations	78
9.	Turtle blood cells were able to phagocytose bioparticles, but fluorescence bleed	
	over prohibited identification of B cells	79
10.	Trypan blue failed to quench fluorescence bleed over	80
11.	Bioparticles quenched without cells still prove to be too bright	81
12.	Fluorescent microscopy failed to detect stained lymphocytes.	82
13.	Bioparticles Show False Positive in GFP and RFP Filters	83



CHAPTER I: REPTILIAN IMMUNITY: THERE IS MORE THAN MEETS THE SCALE

1 | OVERVIEW

Immunity is a mechanism that allows an organism to protect itself from potential pathogens. In vertebrates, immune function has been well defined in mammals, but for non-model organisms such as reptiles, much less is known. It has been noted several times in the literature that characterizing immunity in non-model organisms can provide value to our overall understanding of immunity. For instance, studies on the variable lymphocyte receptor (VLR) genes of lamprey and hagfish, two jawless fishes, has revealed important clues about the evolution of antigen recognition within jawed and jawless vertebrates (Boehm et al., 2012), and the fruit fly, *Drosophila melanogaster*, now serves as a popular model organism to study immune regulation at the level of a whole organism. Beyond this established role, D. melanogaster also played an important role in understanding innate immunity with the discovery of the Toll receptor/pathway, which would later provide important insight for Toll-like receptors (TLRs) in mammals (Buchon, Silverman, & Cherry, 2014). Here I will review the current knowledge of reptilian immunity, with special attention to our study system, the Redeared slider turtle (Trachemys scripta), and other chelonians. I also aim to provide relevant examples of their contribution to the larger understanding of immunity and potential future directions for reptilian immunity-oriented research.



2 | STUDY SYSTEM

Turtles are long-lived ectotherms that can survive in a variety of environmental conditions. T. scripta is a species of pond turtle that is native from Illinois to the Gulf of Mexico. While they are widely distributed, they all inhabit quiet freshwater areas with aquatic vegetation and areas where they are able to bask (Ernst, Barbour, & Lovich, 2009). Females typically lay eggs during the nesting season (May-September) by digging nests in dry unshaded areas near water (Cagle, 1946). Female sliders have been observed to lay 1-30 eggs (10.5 average) which have an incubation period of 61.1-108 days (Ernst et al., 2009). As the female leaves the nest after laying eggs, providing no post-oviposition parental care, these eggs are often subject to heavy predation with a 10.5% survivorship rate from egg to hatchlings aged 1 year in the wild (Frazier, Nat, Gibbons, Greene, & Frazer, 1990). Survivorship rates increase from 10.5% to 53.9% at age 1-2 and over 80% at all ages after that (Frazier et al., 1990). The incubation temperature of the eggs is of particular importance as this species, like many other turtles, has temperaturedependent sex determination (Janzen & Paukstis, 1991; Janzen & Phillips, 2006; Zimmerman, Vogel, & Bowden, 2010), with warmer temperatures producing females. Upon hatching, they are exposed to the microbe-rich soil. In more northerly populations, they overwinter in the nest until early spring when warmer temperatures are common (Ultsch, 2006). After emerging in the spring, the hatchlings disperse to the water and development continues.

Adult sliders typically spend a majority of their time submerged, emerging to bask periodically, but have been observed to be able to remain underwater for extended periods of time during winter hibernation (Ernst et al., 2009; Ultsch, 1989). Their aquatic habitat can range from



www.manaraa.com

microbe-rich filled marsh-like environments with large to slow moving streams. Adults have been recorded to live past the age of 35 years old in the wild, but with ideal conditions, the slider may be able to live even longer (Ernst et al., 2009). This ability to be long-lived in the wild is not confined to just one species, but common amongst many in the chelonian order (Henry, 2003). In the three-toed box turtle (*Terrapene carolina triunquis*), gravid females aged over 60 years were observed to have negligible difference in physiological processes when compared to much younger turtles (Miller, 2001). Furthermore, there have been multiple tortoises being recorded to live over 150 years in age, such as Jonathan, an Aldabra giant tortoise (Aldabrachelys gigantea), estimated to be over 180 years in age (Hollins, 2012; Kettle, 2014). Turtles are a valuable group to study due to their unique physiology and capacity to be longlived in wild while seeming to be unaffected by typical effects of senescence such as decreased reproductive frequency with age and maintained in conjunction with a type 3 survivorship curve for most species (Congdon, Nagle, Kinney, & Van Loben Sels, 2001; Henry, 2003; Iverson, 1991; Miller, 2001). It has also been implicated in studies that the immune system of the turtle may be unaffected by senescence as they seem to have little alteration in humoral immune responses as they age. This was demonstrated through B cell function and antibody production in 2013 study and also in a 2010 study which observed that temperature highly affects humoral immune response, but age differences were not present (Zimmerman, Clairardin, et al., 2013; Zimmerman, Carter, Bowden, & Vogel, 2017).

The reptilian immune system is commonly categorized into two main parts, the innate component, and the adaptive component as seen in other vertebrates such as mammals. It is



important to note that these components are not isolated, as they need one another to function properly to produce an immune response. Pathogen clearance in the body, for instance, typically starts when macrophages of innate immunity engulf foreign materials but then present these internalized proteins to circulating T cells in order to mount adaptive immune responses (Cannon & Swanson, 1992). In this way, the macrophage demonstrates interconnectivity of the two components of the immune system. Reptilian species possess many of the same lymphoid organs as mammalian species, such as a functioning thymus and spleen, but lack structures such as lymph nodes and Peyer's patches commonly seen in mammals (Zimmerman, Vogel, & Bowden, 2010). Currently, six types of leukocytes have been identified by morphology within turtles, these include basophils, eosinophils, lymphocytes, monocytes, azurophils, and heterophils (Stacy, Alleman, & Sayler, 2011). Despite there being much known about the physiology of turtles, and *T. scripta* in particular (Frazier, 1990), many aspects of their immune system are not well defined. Within the last decade, however, there have been several studies in T. scripta that have given insight into both their adaptive and innate immunity (Palackdharry, Sadd, Vogel, & Bowden, 2017; Zimmerman, Clairardin, et al., 2013; Zimmerman, Bowden, & Vogel, 2013; Zimmerman, Vogel, Edwards, & Bowden, 2010). It has been reported that turtles, including *T. scripta*, contain populations of B cells with phagocytic potential, not unlike that of the B-1 cell in mammals (Muñoz, Franco-Noguez, Gonzalez-Ballesteros, Negrete-Philippe, & Flores-Romo, 2014; Zimmerman, Vogel, Edwards, et al., 2010). Given that turtles appear to share some, but not all, immune functions in common with other vertebrates, they provide an interesting group for further study.



www.manaraa.com

3 | INNATE IMMUNITY

Innate immunity serves as the first line of defense against potential pathogens. Because of this, innate immune responses are typically quick and non-specific. Innate immunity utilizes physical/chemical barriers (e.g., epithelial skin layer), anti-microbial peptides (AMPs) (e.g., α -defensins and β -defensins), the complement cascade, innate immune cell responses, and signaling proteins (e.g., cytokines) until it clears the threat, or provides enough time for an adaptive response to occur. The innate branch of the immune system is thought to have evolved first between the two major branches, with the adaptive branch developing much later. Researchers determined that innate components such as first TLR gene in multicellular eukaryotes date back to roughly a billion years ago (Ausubel, 2005; Buchmann, 2014; Kvennefors et al., 2010; Temperley, Berlin, Paton, Griffin, & Burt, 2008). While components of adaptive immunity were first being observed roughly 500 million years ago in invertebrates (Delvaeye & Conway, 2009; Iwanaga, 2002) and in ancient jawed fish around 430 million years ago (Bayne, 2003).

The complement system consists of three main pathways: classical, alternative, and lectin, which all utilize a suite of specific proteolytic enzymes to modify the abundant plasma protein, C3. Modification of C3 results in fragmentation of the protein, where one fragment acts as an opsonin, while the other fragment functions as an inflammation mediator (Merle, Church, Fremeaux-Bacchi, & Roumenina, 2015). It is also important for B and T cell regulation within immune responses (Dunkelberger & Song, 2010). In studies of immunodeficient patients and mice with genetic knockouts, it's been observed that compromise of the complement cascade



results in increased *S. pneumoniae* and *Haemophilus* influenza prevalence, but also *neisserial* infection and others as well (Dunkelberger & Song, 2010; Ross & Densen, 1984). Seeing that the complement is so important mammals, it is no surprise that its presence has also been observed in reptiles. In reptiles, it has been shown that they contain both the alternative and classical complement pathways, with the optimum effectiveness of each pathway being modulated by temperature (Koppenheffer, 1987). In a study using two different reptiles, the Western fence lizard (*Sceloporus occidentalis*) and the Southern alligator lizard (*Elgaria multicarinata*), it was observed that the bactericidal activity of the alternative complement pathway is more aggressive than sera from humans and deer mice (*Peromyscus maniculatus*), being able to kill the Lyme disease spirochete *Borrelia burgdorferi* (Kuo, Lane, & Giclas, 2000). While a study in the Common map turtle (*Graptemys geographica*) and *T. scripta* have shown that external temperatures effect on complement activity as well (Freedberg et al., 2008). A recent study in the Prairie rattlesnake (*Crotalus viridis*) found that their serum had high bactericidal effectiveness and was able to inhibit bacterial growth (Baker & Merchant, 2018).

Antimicrobial peptides are present in most living organisms and are typically less than 200 amino acids in length (Bulet, Stöcklin, & Menin, 2004). There is much diversity in the structure of these peptides with linear α -helical amphipathic peptides being observed, while cyclic and open-ended cyclic structures are also present in organisms. Of these differing structures, many families of proteins have been characterized such as the defensin and cathelicidin families (van Hoek, 2014). Most AMPs have cationic regions in the protein which allow them to interact with the anionic cell walls and phospholipids layers of pathogens (Bulet et al., 2004). AMPs have



been identified in four orders of reptiles: Testudines (turtles and tortoises), Sphenodontia (tuataras), Squamata (snakes and lizards), and Crocodilia (crocodilians) (van Hoek, 2014). In the American alligator (Alligator mississippiensis), several AMPs have higher bactericidal qualities than their mammalian counterparts (Merchant, Roche, Elsey, & Prudhomme, 2003), with a recent study showing promising effectiveness against multidrug-resistant bacteria (Barksdale, Hrifko, & van Hoek, 2017). In the Komodo dragon (Varanus komodoensis), 48 potential novel cationic antimicrobial peptides (CAMPs) have been described, with one peptide having significant potency against *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* (Bishop et al., 2017), another multidrugresistant bacteria (Driscoll, Brody, & Kollef, 2007). At this time, much effort is being put forth to characterize novel CAMPs effective against particularly troublesome pathogens (i.e. multidrugresistant bacteria) against which modern medicine is losing the battle. In support of this, a recent study in the Chinese alligator (Alligator sinensis) identified and characterized 20 novel βdefensin genes, in an effort to assist with the investigation of their potential as an antibiotic alternative (Tang, Wang, Wan, & Fang, 2018). Many of these studies focus on the Crocodilia and Squamata clades, with few studies focusing on AMPs in turtles in the literature (Chattopadhyay et al., 2006; Lakshminarayanan et al., 2008)

Regarding innate cellular responses, many innate immune cell types have been identified in reptiles. For example, mammals contain neutrophils, which are short-lived granule-containing phagocytes, while reptilian and avian species contain cells with similar functionality called heterophils. Heterophils have nuclei with more a rounded appearance than an oval-like one, typical of neutrophils (Campbell, 2004; Montali, 1988). Both cell types retain the innate



functions of phagocytosis and the ability to release granules, and both represent a majority of leukocytes in their respective taxa (Martins, Alevi, Azeredo-Oliveira, & Bonini-Domingos, 2016). Interestingly, heterophil numbers have been shown to vary with seasonal temperature in reptiles, with higher numbers found in the warmer seasons relative to cooler seasons, but in mammals, this seasonal trend is absent, likely due to their endothermic nature (Troiano, Gould, & Gould, 2008). In addition to heterophils, reptiles contain typical granulocytes (eosinophils, basophils) and the azurophil, which is cytochemically and functionally similar to the monocyte (Stacy et al., 2011). It has been observed in snakes however that their function is more reminiscent of the neutrophil (Campbell, 2004). Reptiles also contain typical cells of the myeloid lineage, such the monocyte, and macrophage (Campbell, 2004; Stacy et al., 2011), which are also very important in innate and adaptive immune responses. Thus, while reptilian innate immunity is functionally similar to mammalian innate immunity, differences in its effectiveness and specific cellular components have given rise to many studies that further demonstrate the need to better understand the reptile immune system.

4 | ADAPTIVE IMMUNITY

A key component of adaptive immunity is the ability for organisms to form specific immune responses to pathogens. This is accomplished by the generation of memory and non-memory lymphocytes with genetically diverse antigen receptors (Cooper & Alder, 2006). In vertebrates, adaptive immunity is composed of the humoral component and the cell-mediated component. Adaptive immune cells develop from a common pluripotent hematopoeitic stem cell, which is the precursor to all lymphoid, myeloid, and erythroid cell lines (Bryder, Rossi, & Weissman,



2006). These stem cells are located in the red bone marrow of vertebrates, which is the primary center of production of lymphoid cells and maturation center of the B cell. In mammals, lymphoid structures such as the spleen and lymph nodes contain germinal centers which are responsible for the activation of this cell.

4.1 |Cell-Mediated Immunity

The cell-mediated component of the adaptive immune system is mediated by a lymphoid cell called the T cell. T cell progenitors are produced in red bone marrow and T cells undergo maturation in the thymus. In mammals, T cells are necessary for B cell activation, responsible for cell-mediated apoptosis when an intracellular infection arises, and also are shown to have many regulatory functions (Mosmann & Sad, 1996). These responses are determined primarily through the T cell receptor (TCR), major histocompatibility complex (MHC) receptor, as well as other molecules (Rossjohn et al., 2015). T cells are typically classified by the types of correceptors expressed, which either give a "helper" function (CD4) or an effector function (CD8).

In reptiles, little is known about the function and development of T cells. Genes for CD4, CD8, CD3, TCR, and MHC I and II were identified in the genome of the Painted turtle (*Chrysemys picta*) (Bradley Shaffer et al., 2013). These receptors have also been identified in other reptiles as well (Edwards, Grahn, & Potts, 1995; H. C. Miller, Belov, & Daugherty, 2005). In a study done using the Carolina anole (*Anolis carolinensis*), the Siamese crocodile (*C. siamensis*), and *A. sinensis*, the CD1 gene, a type of antigen-presenting molecule, was located; CD1 has a significant role in T cell activation (Yang et al., 2015), providing further existence of their



www.manaraa.com

presence of T cells in reptiles. Many early studies involved observations of the size of the thymus (Borysenko & Cooper, 1972). While thymic involution is observed to occur with aging in mammalian species (Bodey et al, 1997), it's been shown that turtles and other reptiles undergo seasonal involution (Saad & Zapata, 1992). Involution in mammals leads to accumulation of memory cells and decreased ability to respond to new infections (Cicin-Sain et al., 2007; Mackall, Punt, Morgan, Farr, & Gress, 1998; Naylor et al., 2005). In the Caspian turtle (*Mauremys caspica*), it was concluded that changes in the organ structure were linked with seasonal changes (Leceta, Garrido, Torroba, & Zapata, 1989). This seasonal involution has been shown to result in higher thymic cell numbers and response to chemotaxis in the summer and decreased numbers in the other seasons (Muñoz & De la Fuente, 2001). More studies must be done to understand the total effects that thymic involution trigger in reptilian species and effects on memory cell production.

T cell functionality is thought to be very similar to that of mammalian counterparts, with observed cell proliferation and chemotaxis when exposed to mitogens such as concanavalin A (Con A) and phytohemagglutinin (PHA) in the Northern tuatara (*Sphenodon punctatus*) and *M. caspica* (Burnham, Keall, Nelson, & Daugherty, 2005; Muñoz & De la Fuente, 2001). A CD3+ T lymphocyte population has been isolated in the Green sea turtle (*Chelonia mydas*) (Muñoz et al., 2009) and work done on understanding hormonal effects on cell-mediated responses in separate experiments (Belliure, Smith, & Sorci, 2004; El Masri, Hakim Saar, Hesham Mansour, & Badir, 1995). Beyond these few studies, literature on actual cell functionality *in vitro* is sparse, and much more work needs to be done to truly understand T cell function and cell-mediated



immunity in reptiles. With advancements in genomic studies, characterization of genes such as those in the TLR family are the becoming the targets of study (Priyam, Tripathy, Rai, & Ghorai, 2018). Hopefully, future work will yield more reagents to determine whether differing immunophenotypes exist within the reptilian system, such as separate T cell populations.

4.2 | Humoral Immunity

The humoral arm of adaptive immunity allows organisms to have prolonged, specialized immune responses to pathogens and is vital to protection at mucosal surfaces. The primary lymphoid cell responsible for this type of immunity is the B cell. As mentioned earlier, its progenitor is produced and matures in the bone marrow. The B cell's primary purpose is to produce antibodies that serve a variety of functions such as opsonization, neutralizing pathogens, and promotion of complement activation (Sebina & Pepper, 2018). In mammals, different B cell subsets exist, the main ones being the B-1 subset and the B-2 subset (Allman & Pillai, 2008; F. Martin & Kearney, 2001). These two subsets differ in their function and phenotype. B-2 cells are the main B cell population circulating in the blood and lymph of adult mammals. They produce high affinity, specific antibodies, and maintain immunological memory. In contrast, B-1 cells are located primarily in the peritoneal and pleural cavities in very low numbers (Haas, 2015; Holodick & Rothstein, 2015). They also typically produce more polyreactive, low-affinity antibodies (Griffin, Holodick, & Rothstein, 2011; F. Martin & Kearney, 2001).



It is unknown if B cell subsets exist in reptiles, however, many lines of evidence suggest that B cell function is more equivalent to mammalian B-1 cells. Characteristics of antibody production in reptiles more closely resemble B-1 than B-2 cells. Following immunization, there is a modest increase in antibody titer in the serum which happens slowly over time and titer does not change significantly with a second exposure (T.M Work, Balazs, Rameyer, Chang, & Berestecky, 2000; Zimmerman, Vogel, & Bowden, 2010). Antibodies are polyreactive and commonly referred to as natural antibodies (Panda & Ding, 2015), which characteristically have a low binding affinity to multiple epitopes (Middleton, Nelson, Gartrell, & La Flamme, 2015; Zimmerman, Bowden, et al., 2013). Mammalian B-1 cells have also been shown to produce primarily natural antibodies (IgM, IgG3, and IgA), but lack production of higher affinity antibodies (Ohdan et al., 2000). Genomic evidence and antibody analyses have shown that reptiles contain IgM (Sun, Wei, Li, & Zhao, 2012), IgD (Gambón-Deza & Espinel, 2008; L. Li et al., 2012; Wei et al., 2009; Xu, Wang, & Nie, 2009), two forms of IgY (L. Li et al., 2012; Wang et al., 2012) and in the Leopard gecko (Eublepharis macularius), the presence of an IgA-like (Gambón-Deza, Sánchez-Espinel, & Valdueza Beneitez, 2007). It is important to note that IgY has only been shown to be expressed in avian and reptilian species (Warr, Magor, & Higgins, 1995; Zhang, Calvert, Sutton, Doré, & Dor, 2017). IgY is functionally similar to IgG in mammalian organisms (Wang et al., 2012), and thought to be the evolutionary precursor to IgG and IgE (Pettinello & Dooley, 2014; Zhang et al., 2017). While one form of IgY retains the ability to bind to Fc (Fragment crystallizable) receptors for leukocytes that express it, another truncated form exists as well, with a hypothesized role in antigen neutralization without inflammation (L. Li et al., 2012; Thierry M. Work et al., 2015). Fc receptors are expressed on leukocytes and the



www.manaraa.com

different types Fc (e.g. Fc-gamma) allow antibodies to bind and help with pathogen identification which can induce cytokine release, engulfment of a pathogen, among other functions (Raghavan & Bjorkman, 1996).

B-1 cells in mammals produce mainly low-affinity antibodies and usually do not participate in germinal center reactions. B-2 cells are the cells that produce high-affinity antibodies and interact with T cells in the germinal centers of lymph nodes. Notably, turtles lack lymph nodes and germinal centers (Rios & Zimmerman, 2015). Antibodies produced by reptilian B cells are generally thought to be low affinity from an experiment done in *T. scripta*. Using LPS (Lipopolysaccharides) expressed from Salmonella, it was observed that while antibody production was increased with age and season, the overall avidity of antibody to the antigen was not altered (Zimmerman, Clairardin, et al., 2013). In a competitive binding ELISA using keyhole limpet hemocyanin, overall binding avidity was not altered even with repeated exposures to the antigen to simulate vaccination, whereas, in mammals, secondary doses of antigens typically result in significantly higher recorded binding to antigens (Zimmerman, Bowden, et al., 2013). Further, reptilian B cell populations more closely resemble mammalian B-1 cells due to their ability to undergo phagocytosis (Gao et al., 2012; Novaes e Brito et al., 2010). Following the discovery that some amphibian species and jawed fish contained B cells capable of phagocytosis (J. Li et al., 2006; Øverland, Pettersen, Rønneseth, & Wergeland, 2010), our lab was able to identify such cells in the turtle (Zimmerman, Vogel, Edwards, et al., 2010). Phagocytic B cells were also identified in the Loggerhead sea turtle (*Caretta caretta*), giving rise to the idea that these types of cells may be conserved in many other types of turtles (Rousselet



et al., 2013). While researchers first identified phagocytic B cells in mammals in 1995 in mice (M A Borrello & Phipps, 1995), there was relatively little work done on this previously unappreciated B cell function. More recently, they have been discovered in human, non-human primates, and many other mammals (Griffin et al., 2011; Haas, 2015), and they belong to the B-1 subset. Thus, several lines of evidence suggest reptilian B cells are more similar to mammalian B-1 cells.

Due to the presence of this cell in many species, many of which with less specific adaptive immunity, it is possible that this B-1 cell could represent the primordial B cell, with it gaining more effective humoral functionality as time progressed potentially through gene duplication events giving rise to the B-2 subset (Popi, 2015). Some scientist predict that due its ability to expresses cell surface protein such as F4/80 and Mac-1 when cultured in macrophage-like conditions (Melinda A. Borrello & Phipps, 1996), that this bi-potential nature may be indicative of a myeloid origin, while others have argued that due to their unique cell surface markers and ability to produce antibodies indicate a clear lymphoid origin (Griffin & Rothstein, 2012). There has also been an alternative hypothesis, the "induced-differentiation" hypothesis, states that the B-1 cell could have always existed concurrently with the B-2 cell and formed from a common ancestor (Berland & Wortis, 2002a). Similar occurrences of cells with bipotential nature such as the CD1-restricted natural killer T cell have also been subject to study (Melinda A. Borrello & Phipps, 1995, 1996). Regarding the evolution of the natural killer T cell, it is thought to be a result of CD1 genes evolving rapidly and diverging substantially from the reptiles within eutherian species (Kumar et al., 2017), which differ from both of the above



hypothesizes of B-1 evolution. It is unknown whether a subset of these cells exist in reptiles, but there has been discovery of the CD1 gene mentioned earlier. Overall, these B-1 cell findings suggest immune subsets may represent more of a gradient of immunophenotype, as opposed to a strict subset with no plasticity and this plasticity can be altered in specialized conditions depending on the need of the organism. As it stands now, the evolutionary origin of the B cell is still unknown, but as the progression of evolution becomes more accessible in through molecular studies, a definite answer will be hopefully discovered in the future.

5 | GALT IMMUNITY

The establishment of a well-defined gut microbiota and management is well understood to be a key to management of gut microbes in humans and other organisms (R. Martin et al., 2010; Wu & Wu, 2012). Gut-associated lymphoid tissue (GALT) is the largest lymphoid organ in the body with a reported 10¹² lymphocytes, and higher antibody production than all other non-GALT lymphoid tissues (Brandtzaeg, 1989; Mayer, 2000). GALT immunity is essential for protection against ingested pathogens, systemic pathogens circulating in the digestive tract, and maintenance of gut flora in general. GALT immunity itself is just a portion of the much larger mucosa-associated lymphoid tissues (MALT), which encompasses all ingestive tissue and excretive tissue as a whole, as well other mucosa-lined tissue (Brandtzaeg, Kiyono, Pabst, & Russell, 2008). Common types of GALT structures include the tonsils, Peyer's Patches (PP), mesenteric lymph nodes, isolated lymphoid follicles (ILFs), and other tissues. GALT immunity functions by having a mucous barrier slow or prevent antigens from passing directly into the circulating bloodstream of an organism. If the antigens breach the mucous layer and epithelial



www.manaraa.com

layer they interact with the lamina propia. The lamina propia, in most vertebrates, is loosely organized lymphoid tissue connected to gut epithelial tissues that house various immune cells (Mayer, 2000). Aggregations of lymphocytes (i.e. PPs and Mesenteric lymph nodes) are constantly monitoring antigens caught in mucus that line local gut tissues. This allows increased antibody production and proper inflammation reactions. While PP formation is driven developmentally, ILF formation has been found to be induced through enteric stimulation and diet (Colombo, Scalvenzi, Benlamara, & Pollet, 2015; Kiss et al., 2011; Lee et al., 2012; McDonald, McDonough, & Newberry, 2005).

Virtually nothing is known about reptilian mucosal immunity. While reptiles don't contain PPes or tonsils and most don't produce IgA, they still do contain GALT. There have been studies that have identified a lamina propria region within their digestive tract as well as potential lymphoid cells and aggregations. (Borysenko & Cooper, 1972; Zimmerman, Vogel, & Bowden, 2010). *T. scripta* and many other freshwater reptiles are submerged for the majority of their lives in pathogen-rich environments and constantly ingest these waters, but for the most part, maintain good health. Even those that don't contain life strategies that involve submersion in water are known to carry highly pathogenic bacteria to mammals such as *Salmonella* and don't exhibit signs of health decline (Warwick, Lambiris, Westwood, & Steedman, 2001), which has sparked interest into adaptive immunity in *S. punctatus* for instance (Middleton et al., 2015). ILFs in mammals have been observed to act much like PPs in their ability to mount mucosal immune responses increasing production of IgA in fecal samples when stimulated with an oral inoculation of *Salmonella typhimurium* in mice (Lorenz & Newberry, 2004). In an experiment



done with transgenic mice, it was shown that absence of PPs decreased antibody production, but antibody production was compensated by other tissues such as the ILF (Yamamoto et al., 2000). So the absence PPs in reptiles shouldn't be thought of as a deficiency in GALT immunity, but rather just a different strategy of gut immunity. I will expand upon the potential presence of these tissues in a study covered in chapter 2.

6 | CONCLUSION

While I mentioned that immunity-based research in reptiles is sparse when compared to other organisms, I should also mention some of the other roadblocks that hinder this progress. With the rise of genomic-based research, there simply are is not enough genomic information of non-model organisms. This problem not only plagues reptile immunity-based research, but research in other areas as well. A common approach to overcome this in our lab has been to utilize avian species as templates, but differences in binding sites, expressed proteins, and other issues have slowed progress. As technology advances and prices decrease for sequencers, however, eventually more data will become available. There also is not a large push to develop transgenic reptiles like those seen in mice and *D. melanogaster*. Many of the breakthroughs that we have seen in immunology have come about precisely because of this ability to manipulate the genome in these organisms. It should also be noted that advancements in research of these model systems have also been accelerated due to their utility in the development of modern medicine. Finally, a lack of reagents available to conduct many experiments due to a lack of knowledge of cell surface markers and reasons listed above.



www.manaraa.com

The reptile immune system has a unique placement phylogenetically among vertebrates. Reptiles first emerged about 300 million years ago, while other vertebrates such as mammals and dinosaurs did not emerge until about 100 million years later (Buchmann, 2014). With a shared common ancestor with mammals and birds, they give great insight into how immunity may have specialized over time within amniotic vertebrates. While it is known that the reptilian immune system contains both innate and adaptive compartments, an in-depth understanding of these components to the level of other vertebrates such as mammals will require much additional study.

Progress in understanding immunity in reptiles has proceeded notably slower, compared to other model organisms, but important discoveries have come about, nonetheless. For instance, there has been the discovery that not only do reptiles produce AMPs, but also their greater effectiveness against pathogens could potentially yield therapeutic-related outcomes. We now understand that the ectothermic nature of reptiles also has effectiveness on not only metabolism, but also immune function and also that reptiles contain phagocytic B cells, which have also been observed in early jawed vertebrates and mammals. These findings not only defy the traditional humoral role of the B cell, but also give rise to the idea that this cell may have had a less specialized role originally. While these advancements in our knowledge exist for this particular adaptive immune cell, a comprehensive characterization of T cell phenotypes has yet to be conducted. These few studies highlight the need to understand more about the reptile immune system. I have raised more questions than I am able to answer as it seems there are endless topics to research within the reptilian. Our lab and many others have attempted to do



www.manaraa.com

our part in showcasing this. It is my hope, however, that this brief review on reptile immunity spikes interest in others for potential areas for future research.



REFERENCES

- Allman, D., & Pillai, S. (2008). Peripheral B cell subsets. *Current Opinion in Immunology*, 20(2), 149–157. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.coi.2008.03.014
- Ausubel, F. M. (2005). Are innate immune signaling pathways in plants and animals conserved? *Nature Immunology*, 6(10), 973–979. https://doi.org/10.1038/ni1253

Baker, S. J., & Merchant, M. E. (2018). Antibacterial properties of plasma from the prairie rattlesnake (*Crotalus viridis*). *Developmental & Comparative Immunology*. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.dci.2018.03.002

 Barksdale, S. M., Hrifko, E. J., & van Hoek, M. L. (2017). Cathelicidin antimicrobial peptide from *Alligator mississippiensis* has antibacterial activity against multi-drug resistant
 Acinetobacter baumanii and Klebsiella pneumoniae. *Developmental and Comparative Immunology*, 70, 135–144. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.dci.2017.01.011

- Bayne, C. J. (2003). Origins and Evolutionary Relationships Between the Innate and Adaptive Arms of Immune Systems. *Integrative and Comparative Biology*, *43*(2), 293–299. https://doi.org/10.1093/icb/43.2.293
- Belliure, J., Smith, L. C., & Sorci, G. (2004). Effect of testosterone on T cell-mediated immunity in two species of mediterranean lacertid lizards. *Journal of Experimental Zoology*, *301A*(5), 411–418. https://doi.org/10.1002/jez.a.20068

Berland, R., & Wortis, H. H. (2002). Origins and functions of B-1 cells with notes on the role of CD5. Annual Review of Immunology, 20(1), 253–300.
https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev.immunol.20.100301.064833



- Bishop, B. M., Juba, M. L., Russo, P. S., Devine, M., Barksdale, S. M., Scott, S., ... van Hoek, M. L.
 (2017). Discovery of Novel Antimicrobial Peptides from *Varanus komodoensis* (Komodo
 Dragon) by Large-Scale Analyses and De-Novo-Assisted Sequencing Using Electron-Transfer
 Dissociation Mass Spectrometry. *Journal of Proteome Research*, *16*(4), 1470–1482.
 https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.jproteome.6b00857
- Borrello, M. A., & Phipps, R. P. (1995). Fibroblasts support outgrowth of splenocytes simultaneously expressing B lymphocyte and macrophage characteristics. *Journal of Immunology (Baltimore, Md. : 1950), 155*(9), 4155–4161.
- Borrello, M. A., & Phipps, R. P. (1996, October 1). The B/macrophage cell: An elusive link between CD5+B lymphocytes and macrophages. *Immunology Today*. Elsevier Current Trends. https://doi.org/10.1016/0167-5699(96)20031-B
- Borysenko, M., & Cooper, E. L. (1972). Lymphoid tissue in the snapping turtle, *Chelydra* serpentina. Journal of Morphology, 138(4), 487–497.

https://doi.org/10.1002/jmor.1051380408

- Bradley Shaffer, H., Minx, P., Warren, D. E., Shedlock, A. M., Thomson, R. C., Valenzuela, N., ...
 Wilson, R. K. (2013). The western painted turtle genome, a model for the evolution of
 extreme physiological adaptations in a slowly evolving lineage. *Genome Biology*, *14*(3),
 R28. https://doi.org/10.1186/gb-2013-14-3-r28
- Brandtzaeg, P. (1989). Overview of the mucosal immune system. *Current Topics in Microbiology* and Immunology, 146, 13–25. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-642-74529-4_2



Brandtzaeg, P., Kiyono, H., Pabst, R., & Russell, M. W. (2008). Terminology: nomenclature of mucosa-associated lymphoid tissue. *Mucosal Immunology*, 1(1), 31–37. https://doi.org/10.1038/mi.2007.9

Bryder, D., Rossi, D. J., & Weissman, I. L. (2006). Hematopoietic stem cells: the paradigmatic tissue-specific stem cell. *The American Journal of Pathology*, *169*(2), 338–346. https://doi.org/10.2353/ajpath.2006.060312

Buchmann, K. (2014). Evolution of Innate Immunity: Clues from Invertebrates via Fish to Mammals. *Frontiers in Immunology*, *5*(SEP), 459.

https://doi.org/10.3389/fimmu.2014.00459

- Bulet, P., Stöcklin, R., & Menin, L. (2004). Anti-microbial peptides: From invertebrates to vertebrates. *Immunological Reviews*, *198*(1), 169–184. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.0105-2896.2004.0124.x
- Burnham, D. K., Keall, S. N., Nelson, N. J., & Daugherty, C. H. (2005). T cell function in tuatara (*Sphenodon punctatus*). *Comparative Immunology, Microbiology and Infectious Diseases*, 28(3), 213–222. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cimid.2005.01.005

Cagle, F. R. (1946). The growth of the slider turtle, Pseudemys scripta elegans. *The American Midland Naturalist*, *36*(3), 685–729. https://doi.org/10.2307/2421465

Campbell, T. W. (2004). Hematology of Lower Vertebrates. 55th Annual Meeting of Th American College of Veterinary Pathologists (ACPV) and 39th Annual Meeting of the American Society of Clinical Pathology (ASVCP), Orlando, F, 1104–1214.



- Cannon, G. J., & Swanson, J. A. (1992). The macrophage capacity for phagocytosis. *Journal of Cell Science*, *101*(4), 907 LP-913.
- Chattopadhyay, S., Sinha, N. K., Banerjee, S., Roy, D., Chattopadhyay, D., & Roy, S. (2006). Small cationic protein from a marine turtle has β-defensin-like fold and antibacterial and antiviral activity. *Proteins: Structure, Function, and Bioinformatics, 64*(2), 524–531.

https://doi.org/10.1002/prot.20963

- Cicin-Sain, L., Messaoudi, I., Park, B., Currier, N., Planer, S., Fischer, M., ... Nikolich-Zugich, J. (2007). Dramatic increase in naive T cell turnover is linked to loss of naive T cells from old primates. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 104(50), 19960–19965. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.0705905104
- Colombo, B. M., Scalvenzi, T., Benlamara, S., & Pollet, N. (2015). Microbiota and mucosal immunity in amphibians. *Frontiers in Immunology*. Frontiers Media SA. https://doi.org/10.3389/fimmu.2015.00111
- Congdon, J. D., Nagle, R. D., Kinney, O. M., & Van Loben Sels, R. C. (2001). Hypotheses of aging in a long-lived vertebrate, Blanding's turtle (*Emydoidea blandingii*). *Experimental Gerontology*, *36*(4–6), 813–827. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0531-5565(00)00242-4
- Cooper, M. D., & Alder, M. N. (2006). The Evolution of Adaptive Immune Systems. *Cell*, *124*(4), 815–822. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cell.2006.02.001
- Delvaeye, M., & Conway, E. M. (2009). Coagulation and innate immune responses: can we view them separately? *Blood*, *114*(12), 2367–2374. https://doi.org/10.1182/blood-2009-05-199208



www.manaraa.com

- Driscoll, J. A., Brody, S. L., & Kollef, M. H. (2007). The epidemiology, pathogenesis and treatment of *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* infections. *Drugs*. Springer International Publishing. https://doi.org/10.2165/00003495-200767030-00003
- Dunkelberger, J. R., & Song, W.-C. (2010). Complement and its role in innate and adaptive immune responses. *Cell Research*, *20*(1), 34–50. https://doi.org/10.1038/cr.2009.139
- Edwards, S. V, Grahn, M., & Potts, W. K. (1995). Dynamics of Mhc evolution in birds and crocodilians: amplification of class II genes with degenerate primers. *Molecular Ecology*, *4*(6), 719–729. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-294X.1995.tb00272.x
- El Masri, M., Hakim Saar, A., Hesham Mansour, M., & Badir, N. (1995). Seasonal distribution and hormonal modulation of reptilian T cells. *Immunobiology*, *193*(1), 15–41. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0171-2985(11)80153-1
- Ernst, C., Barbour, R., & Lovich, J. (2009). *Turtles of the United States and Canada*. (H. Ashton,
 Ed.) (2nd ed.). Baltimore, MD: John Hopkins University Press.
 https://doi.org/10.1108/09504121011030887
- Frazier, N. B. (1990). Life tables of a Slider Turtle populaiton. In *Life history and ecology of the Slider Turtle* (pp. 183–200).
- Frazier, N. B., Nat, B. F., Gibbons, J. W., Greene, J. L., & Frazer, N. (1990). Life Tables of a Slider
 Turtle Population. Life History and Ecology of the Slider Turtle. Washington, DC:
 Smithsonian Institution Press.


- Freedberg, S., Greives, T. J., Ewert, M. A., Demas, G. E., Beecher, N., & Nelson, C. E. (2008).
 Incubation Environment Affects Immune System Development in a Turtle with
 Environmental Sex Determination. *Journal of Herpetology*, *42*(3), 536–541.
 https://doi.org/10.1670/07-133.1
- Gambón-Deza, F., & Espinel, C. S. (2008). IgD in the reptile leopard gecko. *Molecular Immunology*, 45(12), 3470–3476. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.molimm.2008.02.027
- Gambón-Deza, F., Sánchez-Espinel, C., & Valdueza Beneitez, J. (2007). A novel IgA-like immunoglobulin in the reptile *Eublepharis macularius*. *Developmental and Comparative Immunology*, *31*(6), 596–605. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.dci.2006.09.005
- Gao, J., Ma, X., Gu, W., Fu, M., An, J., Xing, Y., ... Liu, Y. (2012). Novel functions of murine B1
 cells: Active phagocytic and microbicidal abilities. *European Journal of Immunology*, 42(4), 982–992. https://doi.org/10.1002/eji.201141519
- Griffin, D. O., Holodick, N. E., & Rothstein, T. L. (2011). Human B1 cells in umbilical cord and adult peripheral blood express the novel phenotype CD20 ⁺ CD27 ⁺ CD43 ⁺ CD70 ⁻. *The Journal of Experimental Medicine*, *208*(1), 67–80. https://doi.org/10.1084/jem.20101499
- Griffin, D. O., & Rothstein, T. L. (2012). Human B1 Cell Frequency: Isolation and Analysis of Human B1 Cells. *Frontiers in Immunology*, *3*(MAY), 122.

https://doi.org/10.3389/fimmu.2012.00122

Haas, K. M. (2015). B-1 lymphocytes in mice and nonhuman primates. *Annals of the New York Academy of Sciences*, *1362*(1), 98–109. https://doi.org/10.1111/nyas.12760



- Henry, P. F. P. (2003). The eastern box turtle at the Patuxent Wildlife Research Center 1940s to the present: Another view. *Experimental Gerontology*, *38*(7), 773–776. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0531-5565(03)00107-4
- Hollins, J. (2012). The world's most isolated vet? *Veterinary Record*, *171*(2), i–i. https://doi.org/10.1136/vr.g7292

Holodick, N. E., & Rothstein, T. L. (2015). B cells in the aging immune system: time to consider B-1 cells. *Annals of the New York Academy of Sciences*, *1362*(1), 176–187. https://doi.org/10.1111/nyas.12825

- Iverson, J. B. (1991). Patterns of survivorship in turtles (order Testudines). *Canadian Journal of Zoology*, *69*(2), 385–391. https://doi.org/10.1139/z91-060
- Iwanaga, S. (2002). The molecular basis of innate immunity in the horseshoe crab. *Current Opinion in Immunology*, *14*(1), 87–95. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0952-7915(01)00302-8
- Janzen, F. J., & Paukstis, G. L. (1991). Environmental sex determination in reptiles: ecology, evolution, and experimental design. *The Quarterly Review of Biology*, *66*(2), 149–179. https://doi.org/10.1086/417143
- Janzen, F. J., & Phillips, P. C. (2006). Exploring the evolution of environmental sex determination, especially in reptiles. *Journal of Evolutionary Biology*, *19*(6), 1775–1784. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1420-9101.2006.01138.x
- Kettle, S. (2014). Meet Jonathan, St Helena's 182-year-old giant tortoise BBC News. Retrieved January 30, 2017, from http://www.bbc.com/news/magazine-26543021



Kiss, E. A., Vonarbourg, C., Kopfmann, S., Hobeika, E., Finke, D., Esser, C., & Diefenbach, A.
(2011). Natural Aryl Hydrocarbon Receptor Ligands Control Organogenesis of Intestinal Lymphoid Follicles. *Science*, *334*(6062), 1561–1565.
https://doi.org/10.1126/science.1214914

Koppenheffer, T. L. (1987). Serum complement systems of ectothermic vertebrates. *Developmental and Comparative Immunology*, 11(2), 279–286. https://doi.org/10.1016/0145-305X(87)90072-3

- Kumar, A., Suryadevara, N., Hill, T. M., Bezbradica, J. S., Van Kaer, L., & Joyce, S. (2017). Natural Killer T Cells: An Ecological Evolutionary Developmental Biology Perspective. *Frontiers in Immunology*, *8*, 1858. https://doi.org/10.3389/fimmu.2017.01858
- Kuo, M. M., Lane, R. S., & Giclas, P. C. (2000). A comparative study of mammalian and reptilian alternative pathway of complement-mediated killing of the Lyme disease spirochete (Borrelia burgdorferi). *The Journal of Parasitology*, *86*(6), 1223–1228. https://doi.org/10.1645/0022-3395(2000)086[1223:ACSOMA]2.0.CO;2
- Kvennefors, E. C. E., Leggat, W., Kerr, C. C., Ainsworth, T. D., Hoegh-Guldberg, O., & Barnes, A.
 C. (2010). Analysis of evolutionarily conserved innate immune components in coral links immunity and symbiosis. *Developmental and Comparative Immunology*, 34(11), 1219–1229. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.dci.2010.06.016

Lakshminarayanan, R., Vivekanandan, S., Samy, R. P., Banerjee, Y., Chi-Jin, E. O., Teo, K. W., ... Valiyaveettil, S. (2008). Structure, Self-Assembly, and Dual Role of a β-Defensin-like Peptide from the Chinese Soft-Shelled Turtle Eggshell Matrix. *Journal of the American Chemical Society*, *130*(14), 4660–4668. https://doi.org/10.1021/ja075659k



- Leceta, J., Garrido, E., Torroba, M., & Zapata, A. G. (1989). Ultrastructural changes in the thymus of the turtle *Mauremys caspica* in relation to the seasonal cycle. *Cell and Tissue Research*, *256*(1), 213–219. https://doi.org/10.1007/BF00224736
- Lee, J. S., Cella, M., McDonald, K. G., Garlanda, C., Kennedy, G. D., Nukaya, M., ... Colonna, M. (2012). AHR drives the development of gut ILC22 cells and postnatal lymphoid tissues via pathways dependent on and independent of Notch. *Nature Immunology*, *13*(2), 144–152. https://doi.org/10.1038/ni.2187
- Li, J., Barreda, D. R., Zhang, Y.-A., Boshra, H., Gelman, A. E., LaPatra, S., ... Sunyer, J. O. (2006). B lymphocytes from early vertebrates have potent phagocytic and microbicidal abilities. *Nature Immunology*, 7(10), 1116–1124. https://doi.org/10.1038/ni1389
- Li, L., Wang, T., Sun, Y., Cheng, G., Yang, H., Wei, Z., ... Zhao, Y. (2012). Extensive Diversification of IgD-, IgY-, and Truncated IgY(Fc)-Encoding Genes in the Red-Eared Turtle (*Trachemys scripta elegans*). *The Journal of Immunology*, *189*(8), 3995–4004. https://doi.org/10.4049/jimmunol.1200188
- Lorenz, R. G., & Newberry, R. D. (2004). Isolated lymphoid follicles can function as sites for induction of mucosal immune responses. *Annals of the New York Academy of Sciences*, *1029*(1), 44–57. https://doi.org/10.1196/annals.1309.006
- Mackall, C. L., Punt, J. A., Morgan, P., Farr, A. G., & Gress, R. E. (1998). Thymic function in young/old chimeras: substantial thymic T cell regenerative capacity despite irreversible age-associated thymic involution. *European Journal of Immunology*, *28*(6), 1886–1893. https://doi.org/10.1002/(SICI)1521-4141(199806)28:06<1886::AID-

IMMU1886>3.0.CO;2-M



- Martin, F., & Kearney, J. F. (2001). B1 cells: similarities and differences with other B cell subsets. *Current Opinion in Immunology*, *13*(2), 195–201. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0952-7915(00)00204-1
- Martin, R., Nauta, A. J., Ben Amor, K., Knippels, L. M. J., Knol, J., & Garssen, J. (2010). Early life: Gut microbiota and immune development in infancy. *Beneficial Microbes*, 1(4), 367–382. https://doi.org/10.3920/BM2010.0027
- Martins, G. S., Alevi, K. C. C., Azeredo-Oliveira, M. T. V, & Bonini-Domingos, C. R. (2016). Cytochemical characteristics of blood cells from Brazilian tortoises (Testudines: Testudinidae). *Genetics and Molecular Research*, *15*(1).

https://doi.org/10.4238/gmr.15017549

Mayer, L. (2000). Mucosal immunity and gastrointestinal antigen processing. *Journal of Pediatric Gastroenterology and Nutrition*, *30*(SUPPL. 1), S4-12.

https://doi.org/10.1097/00005176-200001001-00002

- McDonald, K. G., McDonough, J. S., & Newberry, R. D. (2005). Adaptive Immune Responses Are Dispensable for Isolated Lymphoid Follicle Formation: Antigen-Naive, Lymphotoxin-Sufficient B Lymphocytes Drive the Formation of Mature Isolated Lymphoid Follicles. *The Journal of Immunology*, *174*(9), 5720–5728. https://doi.org/10.4049/jimmunol.174.9.5720
- Merchant, M. E., Roche, C., Elsey, R. M., & Prudhomme, J. (2003). Antibacterial properties of serum from the American alligator (*Alligator mississippiensis*). *Comparative Biochemistry and Physiology B Biochemistry and Molecular Biology*, 136(3), 505–513.
 https://doi.org/10.1016/S1096-4959(03)00256-2



Merle, N. S., Church, S. E., Fremeaux-Bacchi, V., & Roumenina, L. T. (2015). Complement System Part I - Molecular Mechanisms of Activation and Regulation. *Frontiers in Immunology*, *6*(JUN), 262. https://doi.org/10.3389/fimmu.2015.00262

Middleton, D. M. R. L., Nelson, N. J., Gartrell, B. D., & La Flamme, A. C. (2015). Presence of antibodies to Salmonella in tuatara (*Sphenodon punctatus*) sera. *Comparative Immunology, Microbiology and Infectious Diseases*, *41*, 17–27.
https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cimid.2015.06.001

- Miller, H. C., Belov, K., & Daugherty, C. H. (2005). Characterization of MHC class II genes from an ancient reptile lineage, Sphenodon (tuatara). *Immunogenetics*, 57(11), 883–891. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00251-005-0055-4
- Miller, J. K. (2001). Escaping senescence: Demographic data from the three-toed box turtle (Terrapene carolina triunguis). *Experimental Gerontology*, *36*(4–6), 829–832. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0531-5565(00)00243-6
- Montali, R. J. (1988). Comparative pathology of inflammation in the higher vertebrates (reptiles, birds and mammals). *Journal of Comparative Pathology*, *99*(1), 1–26. https://doi.org/10.1016/0021-9975(88)90101-6
- Mosmann, T. R., & Sad, S. (1996). The expanding universe of T-cell subsets: Th1, Th2 and more. *Immunology Today*, *17*(3), 138–146. https://doi.org/10.1016/0167-5699(96)80606-2
- Muñoz, F. A., & De la Fuente, M. (2001). The immune response of thymic cells from the turtle *Mauremys caspica. Journal of Comparative Physiology - B Biochemical, Systemic, and Environmental Physiology*, 171(3), 195–200. https://doi.org/10.1007/s003600000159



- Muñoz, F. A., Estrada-Parra, S., Romero-Rojas, A., Work, T. M., Gonzalez-Ballesteros, E., & Estrada-Garcia, I. (2009). Identification of CD3+ T lymphocytes in the green turtle Chelonia mydas. *Veterinary Immunology and Immunopathology*, *131*(3–4), 211–217. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.vetimm.2009.04.015
- Muñoz, F. A., Franco-Noguez, S. Y., Gonzalez-Ballesteros, E., Negrete-Philippe, A. C., & Flores Romo, L. (2014). Characterisation of the green turtle's leukocyte subpopulations by flow
 cytometry and evaluation of their phagocytic activity. *Veterinary Research Communications*, 38(2), 123–128. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11259-014-9595-0
- Naylor, K., Li, G., Vallejo, A. N., Lee, W.-W., Koetz, K., Bryl, E., ... Goronzy, J. J. (2005). The influence of age on T cell generation and TCR diversity. *Journal of Immunology (Baltimore, Md. : 1950), 174*(11), 7446–7452. https://doi.org/10.4049/jimmunol.174.11.7446
- Novaes e Brito, BA Cortez, GM Machado-Santelli, P Xander, BH De Lorenzo, HC Oliveira, ... M Mariano. (2010). In Vitro and In Vivo Phagocytic Ability of Mouse B-1 Cells. *Immunology and Immunogenetics Insights*, *2*(1), 31. https://doi.org/10.4137/III.S6156
- Ohdan, H., Swenson, K. G., Kruger Gray, H. S., Yang, Y.-G., Xu, Y., Thall, A. D., & Sykes, M. (2000).
 Mac-1-Negative B-1b Phenotype of Natural Antibody-Producing Cells, Including Those
 Responding to Gal 1,3Gal Epitopes in 1,3-Galactosyltransferase-Deficient Mice. *The Journal of Immunology*, *165*(10), 5518–5529.

https://doi.org/10.4049/jimmunol.165.10.5518

Øverland, H. S., Pettersen, E. F., Rønneseth, A., & Wergeland, H. I. (2010). Phagocytosis by Bcells and neutrophils in Atlantic salmon (*Salmo salar L.*) and Atlantic cod (*Gadus morhua L.*). *Fish & Shellfish Immunology*, *28*(1), 193–204. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.fsi.2009.10.021



- Palackdharry, S., Sadd, B. M., Vogel, L. A., & Bowden, R. M. (2017). The effect of environmental temperature on reptilian peripheral blood B cell functions. *Hormones and Behavior*, *88*, 87–94. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.yhbeh.2016.10.008
- Panda, S., & Ding, J. L. (2015). Natural Antibodies Bridge Innate and Adaptive Immunity. *The Journal of Immunology*, *194*(1), 13–20. https://doi.org/10.4049/jimmunol.1400844
- Pettinello, R., & Dooley, H. (2014). The immunoglobulins of cold-blooded vertebrates. *Biomolecules*, 4(4), 1045–1069. https://doi.org/10.3390/biom4041045
- Popi, A. F. (2015). B-1 phagocytes: the myeloid face of B-1 cells. *Annals of the New York Academy of Sciences*, *1362*(1), 86–97. https://doi.org/10.1111/nyas.12814
- Priyam, M., Tripathy, M., Rai, U., & Ghorai, S. M. (2018). Divergence of protein sensing (TLR 4, 5) and nucleic acid sensing (TLR 3, 7) within the reptilian lineage. *Molecular Phylogenetics and Evolution*, *119*, 210–224. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ympev.2017.11.018
- Raghavan, M., & Bjorkman, P. J. (1996). Fc receptors and their interactions with immunoglobulins. *Annual Review of Cell and Developmental Biology*, *12*(1), 181–220. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev.cellbio.12.1.181
- Rios, F. M., & Zimmerman, L. M. (2015). Immunology of Reptiles. *ELS*, 1–7. https://doi.org/10.1002/9780470015902.a0026260
- Ross, S. C., & Densen, P. (1984). Complement deficiency states and infection: Epidemiology, pathogenesis and consequences of neisserial and other infections in an immune deficiency. *Medicine (United States)*, *63*(5), 243–273. https://doi.org/10.1097/00005792-198409000-00001



- Rossjohn, J., Gras, S., Miles, J. J., Turner, S. J., Godfrey, D. I., & McCluskey, J. (2015). T Cell Antigen Receptor Recognition of Antigen-Presenting Molecules. *Annual Review of Immunology*, 33(1), 169–200. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev-immunol-032414-112334
- Rousselet, E., Levin, M., Gebhard, E., Higgins, B. M., DeGuise, S., & Godard-Codding, C. A. J. (2013). Evaluation of immune functions in captive immature loggerhead sea turtles (*Caretta caretta*). *Veterinary Immunology and Immunopathology*, *156*(1–2), 43–53. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.vetimm.2013.09.004
- Saad, A. H., & Zapata, A. G. (1992). Reptilian thymus gland: an ultrastructural overview. *Thymus*, *20*(3), 135–152.
- Sebina, I., & Pepper, M. (2018). Humoral immune responses to infection: common mechanisms and unique strategies to combat pathogen immune evasion tactics. *Current Opinion in Immunology*, *51*, 46–54. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.coi.2018.02.001
- Stacy, N. I., Alleman, A. R., & Sayler, K. A. (2011). Diagnostic Hematology of Reptiles. *Clinics in Laboratory Medicine*, *31*(1), 87–108. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cll.2010.10.006
- Sun, Y., Wei, Z., Li, N., & Zhao, Y. (2012). A comparative overview of immunoglobulin genes and the generation of their diversity in tetrapods. *Developmental and Comparative Immunology*, 39(1–2), 103–109. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.dci.2012.02.008
- Tang, K. Y., Wang, X., Wan, Q. H., & Fang, S. G. (2018). A crucial role of paralogous β-defensin genes in the Chinese alligator innate immune system revealed by the first determination of a Crocodilia defensin cluster. *Developmental and Comparative Immunology*, *81*, 193–203. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.dci.2017.11.018



- Temperley, N. D., Berlin, S., Paton, I. R., Griffin, D. K., & Burt, D. W. (2008). Evolution of the chicken Toll-like receptor gene family: a story of gene gain and gene loss. *BMC Genomics*, 9(1), 62. https://doi.org/10.1186/1471-2164-9-62
- Troiano, J. C., Gould, E. G., & Gould, I. (2008). Hematological reference intervals in argentine lizard *Tupinambis merianae* (Sauria-Teiidae). *Comparative Clinical Pathology*, *17*(2), 93–97. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00580-007-0715-x
- Ultsch, G. R. (2006, August 15). The ecology of overwintering among turtles: Where turtles overwinter and its consequences. *Biological Reviews of the Cambridge Philosophical Society*. Blackwell Publishing Ltd. https://doi.org/10.1017/S1464793106007032
- Ultsch, G. R. (1989). Ecology and physiology of hibernation and overwintering among frestwater fishes, turtles, and snakes. *Biological Reviews*, *64*(4), 435–515. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1469-185X.1989.tb00683.x
- van Hoek, M. L. (2014). Antimicrobial peptides in reptiles. *Pharmaceuticals (Basel, Switzerland)*, 7(6), 723–753. https://doi.org/10.3390/ph7060723
- Wang, T., Sun, Y., Shao, W., Cheng, G., Li, L., Cao, Z., ... Zhao, Y. (2012). Evidence of IgY subclass diversification in snakes: evolutionary implications. *Journal of Immunology (Baltimore, Md. : 1950), 189*(7), 3557–3565. https://doi.org/10.4049/jimmunol.1200212
- Warr, G. W., Magor, K. E., & Higgins, D. A. (1995). IgY: clues to the origins of modern antibodies. *Immunology Today*, *16*(8), 392–398. https://doi.org/10.1016/0167-5699(95)80008-5
- Warwick, C., Lambiris, A. J. L., Westwood, D., & Steedman, C. (2001). Reptile-related salmonellosis. *Journal of the Royal Society of Medicine*, 94(3), 124–126. https://doi.org/10.1177/014107680109400306



- Wei, Z., Wu, Q., Ren, L., Hu, X., Guo, Y., Warr, G. W., ... Zhao, Y. (2009). Expression of IgM, IgD, and IgY in a Reptile, *Anolis carolinensis*. *The Journal of Immunology*, *183*(6), 3858–3864.
 https://doi.org/10.4049/jimmunol.0803251
- Work, T. ., Balazs, G. ., Rameyer, R. ., Chang, S. ., & Berestecky, J. (2000). Assessing humoral and cell-mediated immune response in Hawaiian green turtles, *Chelonia mydas*. *Veterinary Immunology and Immunopathology*, *74*(3–4), 179–194. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0165-2427(00)00168-9
- Work, T. M., Dagenais, J., Breeden, R., Schneemann, A., Sung, J., Hew, B., ... Berestecky, J. M. (2015). Green Turtles (*Chelonia mydas*) Have Novel Asymmetrical Antibodies. *Journal of Immunology (Baltimore, Md. : 1950), 195*(11), 5452–5460.
 https://doi.org/10.4049/jimmunol.1501332
- Wu, H. J., & Wu, E. (2012). The role of gut microbiota in immune homeostasis and autoimmunity. *Gut Microbes*. Taylor & Francis. https://doi.org/10.4161/gmic.19320
- Xu, Z., Wang, G. L., & Nie, P. (2009). IgM, IgD and IgY and their expression pattern in the
 Chinese soft-shelled turtle *Pelodiscus sinensis*. *Molecular Immunology*, *46*(10), 2124–2132.
 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.molimm.2009.03.028
- Yamamoto, M., Rennert, P., McGhee, J. R., Kweon, M.-N., Yamamoto, S., Dohi, T., ... Kiyono, H.
 (2000). Alternate Mucosal Immune System: Organized Peyer's Patches Are Not Required
 for IgA Responses in the Gastrointestinal Tract. *The Journal of Immunology*, *164*(10), 5184–
 5191. https://doi.org/10.4049/jimmunol.164.10.5184



- Yang, Z., Wang, C., Wang, T., Bai, J., Zhao, Y., Liu, X., ... Ren, L. (2015). Analysis of the reptile CD1 genes: evolutionary implications. *Immunogenetics*, *67*(5–6), 337–346. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00251-015-0837-2
- Zhang, X., Calvert, R. A., Sutton, B. J., Doré, K. A., & Dor, K. A. (2017). IgY : a key isotype in antibody evolution. *Biological Reviews*, 92(4), 2144–2156. https://doi.org/10.1111/brv.12325
- Zimmerman, L. M., Bowden, R. M., & Vogel, L. A. (2013). Red-Eared Slider Turtles Lack Response to Immunization with Keyhole Limpet Hemocyanin but Have High Levels of Natural Antibodies. *ISRN Zoology*, 2013(7), 1–7. https://doi.org/10.1155/2013/858941
- Zimmerman, L. M., Carter, A. W., Bowden, R. M., & Vogel, L. A. (2017). Immunocompetence in a long-lived ectothermic vertebrate is temperature dependent but shows no decline in older adults. *Functional Ecology*, *31*(7), 1383–1389. https://doi.org/10.1111/1365-2435.12867
- Zimmerman, L. M., Clairardin, S. G., Paitz, R. T., Hicke, J. W., LaMagdeleine, K. A., Vogel, L. A., & Bowden, R. M. (2013). Humoral immune responses are maintained with age in a long-lived ectotherm, the red-eared slider turtle. *The Journal of Experimental Biology*, *216*(Pt 4), 633– 640. https://doi.org/10.1242/jeb.078832
- Zimmerman, L. M., Vogel, L. A., & Bowden, R. M. (2010). Understanding the vertebrate immune system: insights from the reptilian perspective. *Journal of Experimental Biology*, 213(5), 661–671. https://doi.org/10.1242/jeb.038315
- Zimmerman, L. M., Vogel, L. A., Edwards, K. A., & Bowden, R. M. (2010). Phagocytic B cells in a reptile. *Biology Letters*, 6(2), 270–273. https://doi.org/10.1098/rsbl.2009.0692



CHAPTER II: TRACHEMYS SCRIPTA HATCHLING EXPOSURE TO SALMONELLA ALTERS PRESENCE OF INTESTINAL LYMPHOID AGGREGATIONS

ABSTRACT

Gut-associated lymphoid tissue (GALT) is vital for protection against ingested pathogens and maintenance of normal gut microbiota. In mammals, gut mucosal immunity and the lymphoid tissues associated with it, are well characterized, including isolated lymphoid follicles (ILFs) that consist primarily of B cells, and are found throughout the small intestine. In mammals, the formation of ILFs is not developmentally driven like other lymphoid tissues such as Peyer's Patches (PPs), but is rather dynamic and induced through antigenic stimulation and diet. In reptiles, gut mucosal immunity is much less understood. Reptiles lack lymph nodes and PPs, but whether they have ILF-like structures is unknown. In this study, we first set out to determine if ILF-like structures were present in the red-eared slider turtle, *Trachemys scripta*. We identified that there are B cell aggregates that are contained within the small intestine using paraffinembedded sections and whole-mount immunochemistry and a primary antibody to turtle antibody light chains; these aggregates appear similar to ILFs in mammals. To determine if the observed ILF-like structures were inducible, similar to those in mammals, we introduced an enteric Salmonella species through oral gavage to hatchling turtles. Analysis of intestinal tissues revealed that the presence of the B cell aggregates was much higher in distal sections than in proximal sections, and that turtles exposed to Salmonella exhibited significantly more of these aggregates, in general, when compared to those given sham treatments. These studies provide



www.manaraa.com

novel information about gut immunity in non-mammalian vertebrates and provide the first evidence for ILF-like structures in reptiles.

1 | INTRODUCTION

1.1 | Management of Gut Mucosal Immunity in Mammals

Gastrointestinal (GI) tissues are essential to nutrient absorption in all vertebrates, but also serve as excellent areas for microbial colonization (Kato, Kawamoto, Maruya, & Fagarasan, 2014; Stevens & Hume, 1995). It has been estimated that roughly 90% of the total cells contained within the human body are actually commensal microbiota that colonize the GI tract (Savage, 1977). Because of this, constant monitoring by the immune system must be maintained in these tissues to prevent otherwise benign interactions from becoming pathogenic and to also prevent/limit pathogen establishment. Management of this colonization occurs through lymphoid tissue lining the digestive system such as the spleen, mesenteric lymph nodes, Peyer's patches (PPs), and Isolated Lymphoid Follicles (ILFs). These structures house innate and adaptive immune cells that survey the GI tract and are commonly termed gutassociated lymphoid tissues (GALT) (Brandtzaeg, Kiyono, Pabst, & Russell, 2008; Hamada et al., 2002; Stevens & Hume, 1995). PPs, in particular, are a major inductive site for B cell responses and are the primary site of IgA production in the small intestine in mammals (Jung, Hugot, & Barreau, 2010). Here B and T cells interact in germinal centers to produce high affinity, isotype switched antibodies. Interestingly, in mice, rats, and rabbits that lack functional PPs there was little effect on IgA production, indicating that other gut-associated lymphoid tissues may be able to compensate (Heatley et al., 1981; Keren et al., 1978; Yamamoto et al., 2000). However,



removal of both mesenteric lymph nodes and PPs in mice results in severely decreased IgA responses and altered lymphocyte distribution, demonstrating that this ability to compensate is limited (Yamamoto et al., 2000).

In addition to PPs and mesenteric lymph nodes, lymphoid aggregates contained within the digestive tract, termed ILFs, have recently gained attention due to their unique inducible nature and protective qualities (Kiss et al., 2011; Lee et al., 2012). ILFs have been found in mammals such as humans (Moghaddami, Cummins, & Mayrhofer, 1998), rabbits (Keren et al., 1978), mice (Hamada et al., 2002), and Guinea pigs (Rosner & Keren, 1984); they have a composition that differs from the "traditional" GALT tissues such as the PP or mesenteric lymph nodes. ILFs are typically visually less distinguishable than PPs or mesenteric lymph nodes in the gut, being much smaller in size, but more numerous (Hamada et al., 2002; Keren et al., 1978). They appear earlier in development than PPs, and are primarily composed of IgA producing B cells (Hamada et al., 2002). ILFs are formed from cryptopatches with RORyt+ lymphoid tissue inducer precursor cells (Bouskra et al., 2008). These precursor cells are necessary to induce the recruitment of B cells and other cells for cryptopatch formation, then through microbial interactions, they are further induced to recruit more cells and form immature ILFs and then mature ILFs (Lochner, 2011). It is important to note that, in mature ILFs have functioning germinal centers, while immature ILFs and cryptopatches instead contain a large population of B cells, dendritic cells, and small numbers of T cells amongst other cell types (Bouskra et al., 2008). Unlike mesenteric lymph nodes and PPs, the distribution of ILFs can be altered in



www.manaraa.com

response to changes in the surrounding microbial community to maintain homeostasis (Brandtzaeg et al., 2008; Knoop & Newberry, 2012).

While these tissues are compensatory in nature, ILF-deficient mice are shown to have a 10-100 fold increase in commensal bacteria (Bouskra et al., 2008). Furthermore, ILF hyperplasia is observed in Activation-induced cytidine deaminase-/- mice with 100-fold increases in anaerobic bacteria within ILFs in the small intestines (Fagarasan, 2002; Knoop & Newberry, 2012). Upon antibiotic treatment, the presence of ILFs in these animals was observed to be dramatically decreased (Fagarasan, 2002). These results suggest that ILFs play a large role in maintaining populations of enteric bacteria. Beyond their presence in mammals, ILFs have also been described in amphibians (Ardavin, Zapata, Villena, & Solas, 1982; Marshall & Dixon, 1978).

1.2 | Reptilian Gut Mucosal Immunity

While there is extensive knowledge about gut mucosal immunity in mammals, much work needs to be done to understand mucosal immunity in reptilian systems. There are many differences in the physiology of reptiles that are reflected in their management of systemic immunity, but also gut mucosal immunity. Reptiles are vertebrate ectotherms that contain both cellular and humoral immune compartments (Zimmerman, Vogel, & Bowden, 2010). They possess primary lymphoid tissues such as bone marrow and a functioning thymus (Borysenko & Cooper, 1972; Saad & Zapata, 1992; Zimmerman, Vogel, & Bowden, 2010), but they lack certain secondary lymphoid tissues such as lymph nodes and PPs which are vital to mammalian systems (Solas & Zapata, 1980; Zapata & Solas, 1979). It is also thought that they lack germinal



centers (Pitchappan, 1980), which play a very important role in isotype switching and affinity maturation of antibody responses in mammals. Turtles have been shown to have the ability to produce IgM, IgD, and IgY antibodies (Li et al., 2012; Pettinello & Dooley, 2014). Our lab has also shown that turtles primarily produce natural antibodies (Zimmerman, Bowden, & Vogel, 2013), which are polyreactive, and they possess B cells with phagocytic functionality (Zimmerman, Vogel, Edwards, & Bowden, 2010). Most previous studies on reptile immune function have focused on systemic immunity, leaving important knowledge gaps in other aspects of their immune response.

Turtles have long lifespans and live in pathogen-rich environments; it is very likely that they have robust mucosal immunity in their gut, but virtually nothing is known about reptilian mucosal immunity. Given that turtles lack IgA, PPs, and germinal centers, although some non-chelonian reptiles have IgA-like genes, it is unclear how their microbiome is managed (Sun, Wei, Li, & Zhao, 2012). GALT has not been extensively characterized in reptiles, with much of the literature consisting of descriptive studies with simple histological stains that are not able to identify specific lymphocyte populations. From these studies, it is reported that there are possible lymphoid structures in the intestines of the Common snapping turtle (*Chelydra serpentina*), with researchers noting that they observed diffuse aggregates that were composed of small lymphocytes in the submucosa (Borysenko & Cooper, 1972). In a later comparative study, similar lymphoid structures were reported in close association with the lamina propria throughout the small and large intestine and in the cloaca in the Caspian turtle (*Mauremys capsica*) (Zapata & Solas, 1979). They also observed similar structures in the Viperine water



snake (*Natrix maura*), the Algerian sand lizard (*Psammodromus algirus*), and in the Ocellated skink (*Chalcides occelatus*) (Zapata and Solas, 1979). Thus, there is a possibility that reptiles could rely on small immune aggregates like the ILFs of mammals.

We hypothesized that, due to lack of traditional GALT, mesenteric lymph nodes, and PPs, turtles will rely heavily on B cell lymphoid aggregates (e.g., ILFs) in their intestines to regulate gut immunity. We first sought to identify lymphocyte aggregations using histological analysis. We were able to locate a structure reminiscent of a lymphoid aggregation. Like mammals, we predicted that the introduction of a novel microbe would increase the presence of these structures in the small intestine. In order to test this, we used *T. scripta* hatchlings to detect if we could identify populations of B cell aggregates within their small intestines using immunohistochemistry with a turtle light chain-specific mAb. We were able to successfully identify numerous small lymphoid aggregates that are composed of B cells. We then tested whether these aggregations had the ability to respond to changes within the gut microenvironment by introducing *Salmonella* to a subset of hatchlings.

2 | MATERIALS AND METHODS

2.1 | Egg and Hatchling Care

All animals and eggs involved in the studies below were obtained from Banner Marsh State Fish and Wildlife Area in Canton, IL under an approved IACUC protocol. Eggs were collected from freshly laid nests, or from gravid females that were collected from baited traps. Gravid females were transported to the laboratory and induced to oviposit by oxytocin injection



(Ewert & Legler, 1978). Eggs were incubated in moist vermiculite (approximately -150 kPa) until hatching. Once hatched, hatchlings were moved to individual containers and held for 8-10 weeks before experimental treatment. Hatchlings were then randomly assigned to either the sham (*Salmonella*-) group (N=37) or the exposed (*Salmonella*+) group (N=39) (Figure 1).

2.2 | Salmonella Exposure

Salmonella enteritidis (ATCC 13076) was grown to an OD of 0.3 (≈5x10⁵ cells/ml) in LB broth the night before inoculations. 1ml of these cells were concentrated via centrifugation, then resuspended in 20µ of LB broth on the day of the inoculations. A 1ml feeding tube containing 20µl of *Salmonella* in LB broth or sterilized LB broth for the sham treatment was administered to hatchlings via oral gavage. Water samples were collected from individual containers immediately before inoculation to determine *Salmonella* presence pre-inoculation. Cups were sterilized with a 10% bleach solution, rinsed thoroughly, and the oral inoculations were administered. Hatchlings were held for 48 hours to allow for colonization to take place. Water samples were taken after 48 hours to determine *Salmonella* presence, and hatchlings were euthanized. Following euthanasia, intestinal contents were flushed using a butterfly needle with 1x PBS, pH 7.4 and plated to determine if any *Salmonella* was present in the intestinal content. Testing for *Salmonella* presence was determined using Difco[™] XLT4 (Thermofisher) selective agar.



2.3 |Small Intestine Histology

Sections of hatchling small intestine were collected from two individuals and fixed in a 4% paraformaldehyde solution for 24hrs, then stored in a sucrose solution. Intestinal sections were then embedded in a paraffin wax cassette and sliced into 7µM sections using a microtome. Sections were then stained using Hematoxylin and Eosin. Protocols for slices were adopted from Fletcher and Wibbles (Fletcher & Wibbels, 2014). Sections were photographed using a Leica DMRBE. Histological sections were analyzed using the image processing software suite Fiji ImageJ v2.00 (http://fiji.sc/; Schindelin et al., 2012). Images were modified for correct white balancing using a macro written by Vytas Bindokas; Oct 2006, Univ. of Chicago. Modified by Patrice Mascalchi.

2.4 | Whole-Mount Immunohistochemistry

After being flushed with PBS, intestinal tissue was prepared for immunohistochemistry. Two 1-2 cm sections were collected from each hatchling; one section was excised proximal to the yolk sac and one section distal to the yolk sac. Intestinal sections were prepared using a modified version of whole-mount immunohistochemistry according to a protocol previously used on adult mice (McDonald & Newberry, 2007). Next, sections were split longitudinally and mounted on Sylgard 184 Silicone epoxy (Dow Corning Corporation) in six-well tissue culture dishes (humidity chambers) lumen side up. They were kept hydrated with room temperature 1x PBS, then were washed three times for five minutes each while shaking at 600 rpm in warm (37°C) Hanks balanced salt solution with 0.1M EDTA (HBSS-EDTA) to remove the surface epithelial layer and expose the intestinal lumen.



www.manaraa.com

The intestinal lumen was then washed with HBSS-EDTA using a 30cc syringe with a 23-gauge needle to ensure complete removal of the epithelial cell layer. Sections were then shaken for 10 minutes in cold 1x PBS and fixed with a 4% paraformaldehyde solution in 1x PBS for one hour. Following fixation, tissues were treated with 1% hydrogen peroxide in 1x PBS for 15 minutes to inactivate any native endogenous peroxidases. Intestines were then blocked overnight in a 50mM Tris buffer (pH 7.2) supplemented with 150mM sodium chloride, 0.06% Triton-X 100, and 0.1% bovine serum albumin (BSA) shaking at 4°C. Following incubation, intestines were once again incubated overnight with a 1:500 dilution of HL673 mAb conjugated to biotin in buffer solution. Next, intestines were washed three times for ten minutes each with 1%BSA-1x PBS and incubated with streptavidin-horseradish peroxidase (SA-HRP) (BD Biosciences) diluted 1:1000 for one hour. Three more subsequent washes occurred, and then intestines were treated with diaminobenzidine peroxidase substrate (Metal Enhanced DAB Substrate Kit, ThermoFisher Scientific) for 15 minutes. Finally, the intestinal sections were washed twice with dH2O to stop any reactions and returned to 1x PBS. Images were taken at (2.5X) magnification using a Leica camera attached to a Leica dissecting scope.

2.5 |Spot Proportion Determination

Intestinal images were analyzed using the image processing software suite Fiji ImageJ v2.00 (Schindelin et al., 2012). A grid pattern was placed on the images 2.5X magnification on the dissection scope. All squares within grids had a surface area of 0.1mm². Grids containing small intestine were marked and then area added. Then, grids containing spots (developed through



immunohistochemistry) were marked and added separately. The proportion of spots marked compared to the entire intestine was then calculated. Images were also edited for white balancing using the aforementioned method in ImageJ.

2.6 | Statistical Analysis

All statistical analyses were performed in R statistical software v3.3.3 (R Development Core Team, 2016) and the *Ime4* package (Bates, Mächler, Bolker, & Walker, 2014). A generalized mixed model with a binomial distribution was performed on the presence or absence of *Salmonella* in water samples collected both before and after treatment, and additionally on the proportion of small intestine grid areas with positive B-cell staining. For *Salmonella* presence in water, a model was fitted with *Salmonella* treatment as fixed effect, and clutch as a random effect. The presence or absence of B-cell staining within small intestine grids was analyzed with treatment, location (proximal/distal), and season (early/late) as fixed effects, with clutch origin and hatchling as random effects, to account for multiple measurements being taken from the same individual. Maximal models including possible interactions between fixed effects were simplified by sequentially eliminating non-significant terms through likelihood ratio tests (LRTs), and best-fitting models were chosen based on the Akaike information criterion (AIC). For factor level comparisons, the package *Ismeans* (Lenth, 2016) was used to extract predicted probabilities for treatment levels from the best fitting models.



3 | RESULTS

3.1 |Intestinal Histology Yielded ILF-like Structures

While early histological studies identified lymphocytes by morphology in these tissues (Borysenko & Cooper, 1972; Solas & Zapata, 1980; Zapata & Solas, 1979), the distribution of specific B cells is unknown. Previous studies have identified B cell aggregations within the small intestine of reptiles (Zapata & Solas, 1979). Intestinal histology slices showed an aggregation of cells with lymphocyte-like cell morphology and placement in the lamina propia (Figure 2-3). There were no apparent afferent or efferent vessels, indicating that aggregate was formed locally, as opposed to a PP with drainage to a local lymph node (Figure 2B and 2D). Slices with these structures were not continuous in all sections of the intestine and were easily distinguishable from a blood vessel (Figure 2A), which was observed to be continuous in all sections. Our initial observation support that these structures are lymphoid aggregates, but this method does not allow us to confirm what the specific cell types are present.

3.2 |ILF-Like Structures are more Abundant in the Distal Portion of the Intestine With positive identification of lymphoid aggregates, we needed verification through other means to determine cell phenotype. Proximal and distal intestinal sections from untreated hatchling animals were found to contain B cell aggregations within the small intestine (Figure 4). To determine if the presence of these structures corresponded with those observed in mammals, such that more ILFs appear distally as opposed to proximally, we determine spots number on proximal and distal section of intestinal tissue. The proportion of spots contained within the small intestine show a highly significant difference by location, with distal sections



www.manaraa.com

containing a much higher proportion of spots compared to the proximal sections (Figure 5; χ 2=175.0, d.f. = 1, p < 0.0001).

3.3 | Prevalence of *Salmonella* Pre-inoculation

Before we could determine whether exposure to microbes in the gut would alter the presence of the B cell aggregations, we had to identify if any of our animals were carriers of *Salmonella* prior to our experimental exposure. We predicted natural carriage rates would be low due to being reared under laboratory conditions versus their normal soil habitat. Pre-inoculation water samples for both groups of hatchlings showed a low rate of natural *Salmonella* colonization as expected (Figure 6). There was no significant difference in *Salmonella* prevalence among individuals randomly assigned to the two groups (χ 2= 11.5, d.f. = 1, p = 0.0007). Forty-eight hours following inoculation, however, the number of individual water samples testing positive increased significantly in the group that received the oral gavage containing *Salmonella* (Figure 6). Thus, it is likely that these animals were shedding bacteria in water samples. Due to inconsistencies with intestinal flush procedures, that data was not included in our final analysis.

3.4 | Salmonella Exposure Increases ILF-like Aggregations

We examined intestinal sections for the presence of spots developed through whole-mount immunohistochemistry. We observed a significant difference in the proportion of spots contained within the distal intestine between our sham and exposed treatment groups. Hatchings inoculated with *Salmonella* had a higher proportion of spots when compared to those who were given the sham treatment (Figure 7; χ^2 =4.84, d.f. = 1, p = 0.028). These findings



www.manaraa.com

indicate that exposure of hatchlings to *Salmonella* via oral gavage was successful, and also indicates that the observed B cell aggregations found in the small intestine are responsive to microbe presence.

4 DISCUSSION

Mucosal immunity and GALT structures in reptiles have received relatively little study compared to those of mammals. In our study, we sought to determine if and how B cells were distributed in the small intestine of the turtle, *T. scripta*. We hypothesized these cells play an important role, similar to mammals, in maintaining commensal microbiota and protection from pathogens. Given the lack of lymph nodes in reptiles, we predicted that the B cells would be found in lymphoid follicle-like structures. We were able to identify lymphoid cell aggregations in the small intestine histologically. Using a monoclonal antibody specific for turtle antibody light chain proteins, we were able to clearly visualize small B cell clusters throughout the intestine. We also wanted to determine if we could induce these structures, with the presence of a newly acquired enteric microbe. It is important to note, that this is also the first study in mucosal immunity in a hatchling turtle, which informs us that hatchlings as young as 8 weeks have potential to develop B cell aggregations in the intestinal tract in response to gut microbes.

We observed that more B cell aggregates were present in hatchlings exposed to *Salmonella* compared to our sham treated hatchings. Spots were also more numerous in distal sections of intestines compared to the proximal sections. This finding is consistent with previous literature using non-specific histological stains examining potential GALT structures and lymphocytes in



www.manaraa.com

M. caspica, with more migrating lymphocytes and lymphoid tissue being observed as they progressed through the small intestine (Duodenum<Jejunum<Ileum) (Solas & Zapata, 1980; Zapata & Solas, 1979). These findings are also consistent with the increased ILF presence in distal mouse intestines (Hamada et al., 2002; Lorenz, Chaplin, McDonald, McDonough, & Newberry, 2003), suggesting that the distal portion of the small intestine is particularly important for microbe management, as higher loads of bacteria have been recorded further in the digestive tract (Donaldson, Lee, & Mazmanian, 2015). While these differences are congruent with observations from other studies, explanation of the observed differences could also be due to previous microbe exposure via the yolk. It is known that maternal yolk contains antibodies and enzymes to support immunity of offspring in many organisms (Kovacs-Nolan & Mine, 2012), but it is also known that egg yolk can contain pathogens (Parveen, Rahman, Fakhruzzaman, Akter, & Islam, 2017), and it has been shown that microbial incubation in yolk can also promote bacterial colonization in some cases. For instance, in a study examining Salmonella Enteritidis infection in mice, scientists discovered that Salmonella grown in egg yolk displayed greater illness, disease markers, and colonization than those grown in LB broth or from mice previously infected with Salmonella (Moreau et al., 2016). The hatching yolk sac was used as a marker to determine proximal and distal sections of the small intestine, with all proximal sections being located proximally to the sac. Because of this, there was potential differential pathogen exposure from the yolk sac, which may have also aided in the differences observed in these B cell aggregations unintentionally, even though the entire intestinal section should have received Salmonella via oral gavage for exposed individuals.



www.manaraa.com

Pre-inoculation water sample testing for Salmonella showed that our hatchings contained a very low prevalence of natural occurrence. Previous work by our laboratory and others did find that hatchling turtles could acquire *Salmonella* from ingesting contaminated eggshells during hatching (Holgersson, Nichols, Paitz, & Bowden, 2016), yet, infection did not persist more than about 8 days (Pasmans, De Herdt, Dewulf, & Haesebrouck, 2002). Post-inoculation water sampling showed a much higher prevalence of *Salmonella* in the exposed group. Ideally, water samples containing shed microbes should serve as a proxy for bacterial colonization in the gut. However, when the hatchlings were given *Salmonella* inoculations, *Salmonella* cells may have coated the mouth or head of the hatchling upon introduction. While this was not ideal, it would still promote ingestion of the pathogen, thus yielding the same result. We attempted to collect intestinal flush samples to confirm colonization, but we experienced difficulty flushing intestinal sections, so methods were changed mid-way through the experiment. Due to this, this data was omitted from analysis, but it should be noted that a there was a low amount of growth observed from flush samples collected. In the future, we hope to measure intestinal colonization with a modified method that will be standardized across treatments. We also hope to examine whether exposure to a more pathogenic enteric bacterium or immune stimulant may cause altered presence of spots, as *Salmonella* is typically asymptomatic in healthy turtles (Chiodini & Sundberg, 1981). It has been shown in mammals that methods of pathogen recognition do not differ between commensal and pathogenic bacteria (Rakoff-Nahoum, Paglino, Eslami-Varzaneh, Edberg, & Medzhitov, 2004), but methods for pathogen clearance have been shown to be different (Haller et al., 2000). Salmonella is suggested to have potentially have coevolved with reptilians from a more pathogenic organism to a commensal



www.manaraa.com

organism (Bäumler, Tsolis, Ficht, & Adams, 1998), thus, exposure to a different pathogen may yield different results. Would we see a larger inflammatory reaction from this exposure and larger B cell recruitment as result? This question, among others, remains unknown.

These findings in combination with our post-inoculation water samples strongly suggest that the B cell aggregates are able to respond to microbial presence. Their location is also consistent with those observed in mammals and amphibians. It is of particular interest to know if T cells are also present in the aggregates; however, no turtle-specific T cell reagents are currently available. We also have only examined intestinal tissue in hatchling *T. scripta,* which presumably would have a lower overall microbial load and less B cell development than in adults. Future examination of these tissues in adults could provide even stronger evidence of the ILF-like B cell aggregations.

5 | CONCLUSION

To the best of our knowledge, this is the first study that has specifically identified B cell aggregates within the intestine of a reptile using a primary antibody. We have also shown that these aggregates are present in young hatchling turtles and that their number increases as you progress distally in the small intestine. We have also shown that these aggregates have an inducible nature. Hatchlings exposed to *Salmonella* increased the overall presence of these aggregates when compared to those given a sham treatment containing no bacteria. It is our thought that these aggregates seem to resemble isolated lymphoid follicles, which have similar



www.manaraa.com

responses to microbes in other organisms. These important questions will be addressed in future studies.



Fig. 1 A graphical representation of the experimental design using hatchling *T. scripta* in our study.





Fig. 2 7μM sliced histological sections of hatchling small intestines stained with H&E.
 Representative images are shown above all at 10X magnification. A) Intestinal section with no lymphoid aggregation present; BV=Blood Vessel B) Another small intestinal with visible lymphoid aggregations C) Lymphoid aggregation presence at the base of villi D) Lymphoid aggregation presence within the lamina propia





Fig. 3 Oil immersion (100X) of intestinal section containing lymphoid aggregates. A) Small round leukocyte-like cells within the base of the intestinal lumen B) Small round leukocyte-like cells within the lamina propia C) Muscle cells shown within the intestine D) Tip of villi with diffuse leukocytes contained within the interior section surrounded by a single layer of columnar cells





Fig. 4 Clusters of B cells are present throughout hatchling intestines. Representative intestinal images are shown. (A) Negative control intestinal section that received no primary antibody (B) Proximal intestinal sections stained with primary antibody to turtle light chains and (C) distal sections. Scale bars and magnifications are the same for images (B) and (C).





Fig. 5 Frequency of B cell aggregates is increased in distal sections. Spot proportion was determined as described for intestinal sections. Points represent model-estimated probabilities. Distal Sections (n=45), Proximal Sections (n=41).





Fig. 6 Prevalence of Salmonella in tested water samples before and after inoculation. A low proportion of individual's water tested positive for Salmonella before treatment, but a much higher proportion of animals tested positive for Salmonella shed in water following inoculation of Salmonella by oral gavage treatment. Hatchlings were randomly placed in sham (green bar) or exposure groups (orange bar) and water samples collected and plated on selective media as described. After 48 hours, a post-treatment water sample was tested. Bars represent model-estimated proportions. Pre-treatment Sham Group (n=72), Pre-treatment Salmonella-exposed Group (n=76), Post-Treatment Sham Group (n=64), Post-treatment Salmonella-exposed Group (n=76).





Fig. 7 A higher proportion of spots were observed in hatchlings that were exposed to *Salmonella*. Whole mount immunohistochemistry of the distal portion of hatchling intestines was performed 48 hours after oral gavage. Images were analyzed as described. Points represent model-estimated probabilities. Sham-Treatment Group (n=38), *Salmonella*-exposed Group (n=48)



REFERENCES

- Ardavin, C. F., Zapata, A., Villena, A., & Solas, M. T. (1982). Gut-Associated lymphoid tissue
 (GALT) in the amphibian urodele *Pleurodeles waltl. Journal of Morphology*, *173*(1), 35–41.
 https://doi.org/10.1002/jmor.1051730105
- Bates, D., Mächler, M., Bolker, B., & Walker, S. (2014). Fitting Linear Mixed-Effects Models using Ime4.
- Bäumler, A. J., Tsolis, R. M., Ficht, T. A., & Adams, L. G. (1998). Evolution of host adaptation in *Salmonella enterica*. *Infection and Immunity*, *66*(10), 4579–4587.
- Borysenko, M., & Cooper, E. L. (1972). Lymphoid tissue in the snapping turtle, *Chelydra* serpentina. Journal of Morphology, 138(4), 487–497.
 https://doi.org/10.1002/jmor.1051380408
- Bouskra, D., Brézillon, C., Bérard, M., Werts, C., Varona, R., Boneca, I. G., & Eberl, G. (2008). Lymphoid tissue genesis induced by commensals through NOD1 regulates intestinal homeostasis. *Nature*, *456*(7221), 507–510. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature07450
- Brandtzaeg, P., Kiyono, H., Pabst, R., & Russell, M. W. (2008). Terminology: nomenclature of mucosa-associated lymphoid tissue. *Mucosal Immunology*, 1(1), 31–37.

https://doi.org/10.1038/mi.2007.9

- Chiodini, R. J., & Sundberg, J. P. (1981). Salmonellosis in Reptiles: A Review. *American Journal of Epidemiology*, *113*(5), 494–499. https://doi.org/10.1093/oxfordjournals.aje.a113124
- Donaldson, G. P., Lee, S. M., & Mazmanian, S. K. (2015, January 26). Gut biogeography of the bacterial microbiota. *Nature Reviews Microbiology*. Nature Publishing Group. https://doi.org/10.1038/nrmicro3552


Ewert, M. A., & Legler, J. M. (1978). Hormonal Induction of Oviposition in Turtles. *Herpetologica*, *34*(3), 314–318. https://doi.org/10.2307/3891560

Fagarasan, S. (2002). Critical Roles of Activation-Induced Cytidine Deaminase in the Homeostasis of Gut Flora. *Science*, 298(5597), 1424–1427. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.1077336

- Fletcher, J., & Wibbels, T. (2014). Sea Turtle Histology Laboratory Manual for BY 398 Research Students. Alabama: University of Alabama at Birmingham.
- Haller, D., Bode, C., Hammes, W. P., Pfeifer, A. M. A., Schiffrin, E. J., & Blum, S. (2000). Nonpathogenic bacteria elicit a differential cytokine response by intestinal epithelial cell/leucocyte co-cultures. *Gut*, *47*(1), 79–87. https://doi.org/10.1136/gut.47.1.79
- Hamada, H., Hiroi, T., Nishiyama, Y., Takahashi, H., Masunaga, Y., Hachimura, S., ... Ishikawa, H.
 (2002). Identification of multiple isolated lymphoid follicles on the antimesenteric wall of the mouse small intestine. *Journal of Immunology (Baltimore, Md. : 1950), 168*(1), 57–64. https://doi.org/10.4049/jimmunol.168.1.57
- Heatley, E. V, Stark, J. M., Horsewood, P., Bandouvas, E., Cole, F., & Bienenstock, J. (1981). The effects of surgical removal of Peyer's patches in rat on systemic antibody responses to intestinal antigen. *Immunology*, *44*(3), 543–548.
- Holgersson, M. C. N., Nichols, W. A., Paitz, R. T., & Bowden, R. M. (2016). How important is the eggshell as a source for initial acquisition of Salmonella in hatchling turtles? *Journal of Experimental Zoology Part A: Ecological Genetics and Physiology*, 325(2), 142–148.
 https://doi.org/10.1002/jez.2004



Jung, C., Hugot, J.-P., & Barreau, F. (2010). Peyer's Patches: The Immune Sensors of the Intestine. *International Journal of Inflammation*, *2010*, 1–12. https://doi.org/10.4061/2010/823710

Kato, L. M., Kawamoto, S., Maruya, M., & Fagarasan, S. (2014, July 1). The role of the adaptive immune system in regulation of gut microbiota. *Immunological Reviews*. https://doi.org/10.1111/imr.12185

- Keren, D. F., Holt, P. S., Collins, H. H., Gemski, P., Formal, S. B., Hachimura, S., ... Ishikawa, H. (1978). The role of Peyer's patches in the local immune response of rabbit ileum to live bacteria. *Journal of Immunology (Baltimore, Md. : 1950), 120*(6), 1892–1896. https://doi.org/10.4049/jimmunol.168.1.57
- Kiss, E. A., Vonarbourg, C., Kopfmann, S., Hobeika, E., Finke, D., Esser, C., & Diefenbach, A.
 (2011). Natural Aryl Hydrocarbon Receptor Ligands Control Organogenesis of Intestinal
 Lymphoid Follicles. *Science*, 334(6062), 1561–1565.

https://doi.org/10.1126/science.1214914

Knoop, K. A., & Newberry, R. D. (2012). Isolated Lymphoid Follicles are Dynamic Reservoirs for the Induction of Intestinal IgA. *Frontiers in Immunology*, *3*(MAY), 84.

https://doi.org/10.3389/fimmu.2012.00084

Kovacs-Nolan, J., & Mine, Y. (2012). Egg Yolk Antibodies for Passive Immunity. Annual Review of Food Science and Technology, 3(1), 163–182. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev-food-022811-101137



- Lee, J. S., Cella, M., McDonald, K. G., Garlanda, C., Kennedy, G. D., Nukaya, M., ... Colonna, M. (2012). AHR drives the development of gut ILC22 cells and postnatal lymphoid tissues via pathways dependent on and independent of Notch. *Nature Immunology*, *13*(2), 144–152. https://doi.org/10.1038/ni.2187
- Lenth, R. V. (2016). Least-Squares Means: The R Package Ismeans. *Journal of Statistical Software*, *69*(1), 1–33. https://doi.org/10.18637/jss.v069.i01
- Li, L., Wang, T., Sun, Y., Cheng, G., Yang, H., Wei, Z., ... Zhao, Y. (2012). Extensive Diversification of IgD-, IgY-, and Truncated IgY(Fc)-Encoding Genes in the Red-Eared Turtle (*Trachemys scripta elegans*). *The Journal of Immunology*, *189*(8), 3995–4004. https://doi.org/10.4049/jimmunol.1200188
- Lochner, M. (2011). Tertiary lymphoid tissues in the colon: Friend and foe. *Gut Microbes*, 2(3), 193–197. https://doi.org/10.4161/gmic.2.3.16732
- Lorenz, R. G., Chaplin, D. D., McDonald, K. G., McDonough, J. S., & Newberry, R. D. (2003).
 Isolated lymphoid follicle formation is inducible and dependent upon lymphotoxinsufficient B lymphocytes, lymphotoxin beta receptor, and TNF receptor I function. *Journal* of Immunology (Baltimore, Md. : 1950), 170(11), 5475–5482.
 https://doi.org/10.4049/jimmunol.170.11.5475
- Marshall, J. a, & Dixon, K. E. (1978). Cell specialization in the epithelium of the small intestine of feeding *Xenopus laevis* tadpoles. *Journal of Anatomy*, *126*(Pt 1), 133–144.
- McDonald, K. G., & Newberry, R. D. (2007). Whole-mount techniques to evaluate subepithelial cellular populations in the adult mouse intestine. *BioTechniques*, *43*(1), 50–56. https://doi.org/10.2144/000112514



- Moghaddami, M., Cummins, A., & Mayrhofer, G. (1998). Lymphocyte-filled villi: Comparison with other lymphoid aggregations in the mucosa of the human small intestine. *Gastroenterology*, *115*(6), 1414–1425. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0016-5085(98)70020-4
- Moreau, M. R., Wijetunge, D. S. S., Bailey, M. L., Gongati, S. R., Goodfield, L. L., Hewage, E. M. K.
 K., ... Kariyawasam, S. (2016). Growth in Egg Yolk Enhances *Salmonella Enteritidis*Colonization and Virulence in a Mouse Model of Human Colitis. *PLOS ONE*, *11*(3),
 e0150258. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0150258
- Parveen, A., Rahman, M. M., Fakhruzzaman, M., Akter, M. R., & Islam, M. S. (2017).
 Characterization of bacterial pathogens from egg shell, egg yolk, feed and air samples of poultry houses. *Asian Journal of Medical and Biological Research*, *3*(2), 168.
 https://doi.org/10.3329/ajmbr.v3i2.33564
- Pasmans, F., De Herdt, P., Dewulf, J., & Haesebrouck, F. (2002). Pathogenesis of infections with Salmonella enterica subsp. enterica serovar Muenchen in the turtle Trachemys scripta scripta. Veterinary Microbiology, 87(4), 315–325. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0378-1135(02)00081-0
- Pettinello, R., & Dooley, H. (2014). The immunoglobulins of cold-blooded vertebrates. *Biomolecules*, 4(4), 1045–1069. https://doi.org/10.3390/biom4041045
- Pitchappan, R. (1980). On the phylogeny of splenic structure and function. *Developmental & Comparative Immunology*, *4*(C), 395–416. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0145-305X(80)80044-





- R Development Core Team. (2016). R: A language and environment for statistical computing. R Foundation for Statistical Computing, R Foundation for Statistical Computing, Vienna, Austria. https://doi.org/ISBN 3-900051-07-0
- Rakoff-Nahoum, S., Paglino, J., Eslami-Varzaneh, F., Edberg, S., & Medzhitov, R. (2004). Recognition of commensal microflora by toll-like receptors is required for intestinal homeostasis. *Cell*, *118*(2), 229–241. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cell.2004.07.002
- Rosner, A. J., & Keren, D. F. (1984). Demonstration of M cells in the specialized follicleassociated epithelium overlying isolated lymphoid follicles in the gut. *Journal of Leukocyte Biology*, *35*(4), 397–404.
- Saad, A. H., & Zapata, A. G. (1992). Reptilian thymus gland: an ultrastructural overview. *Thymus*, *20*(3), 135–152.
- Savage, D. C. (1977). Microbial Ecology of the Gastrointestinal Tract. Annual Review of Microbiology, 31(1), 107–133. https://doi.org/10.1002/9780470281840
- Schindelin, J., Arganda-Carreras, I., Frise, E., Kaynig, V., Longair, M., Pietzsch, T., ... Cardona, A.
 (2012). Fiji: an open-source platform for biological-image analysis. *Nature Methods*, 9(7), 676–682. https://doi.org/10.1038/nmeth.2019
- Solas, M. T., & Zapata, A. G. (1980). Gut-associated lymphoid tissue (GALT) in reptiles: Intraepithelial cells. *Developmental & Comparative Immunology*, 4(1), 87–97. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0145-305X(80)80011-5
- Stevens, C. E., & Hume, I. D. (1995). Comparative physiology of the vertebrate digestive system (second edition). Comparative physiology of the vertebrate digestive system. (illustrate).
 Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.



- Sun, Y., Wei, Z., Li, N., & Zhao, Y. (2012). A comparative overview of immunoglobulin genes and the generation of their diversity in tetrapods. *Developmental and Comparative Immunology*, 39(1–2), 103–109. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.dci.2012.02.008
- Yamamoto, M., Rennert, P., McGhee, J. R., Kweon, M.-N., Yamamoto, S., Dohi, T., ... Kiyono, H. (2000). Alternate Mucosal Immune System: Organized Peyer's Patches Are Not Required for IgA Responses in the Gastrointestinal Tract. *The Journal of Immunology*, *164*(10), 5184– 5191. https://doi.org/10.4049/jimmunol.164.10.5184
- Zapata, A. G., & Solas, M. T. (1979). Gut-associated lymphoid tissue (GALT) in reptilia: Structure of mucosal accumulations. *Developmental & Comparative Immunology*, *3*(c), 477–487. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0145-305X(79)80043-9
- Zimmerman, L. M., Bowden, R. M., & Vogel, L. A. (2013). Red-Eared Slider Turtles Lack Response to Immunization with Keyhole Limpet Hemocyanin but Have High Levels of Natural Antibodies. *ISRN Zoology*, 2013(7), 1–7. https://doi.org/10.1155/2013/858941
- Zimmerman, L. M., Vogel, L. A., & Bowden, R. M. (2010). Understanding the vertebrate immune system: insights from the reptilian perspective. *Journal of Experimental Biology*, *213*(5), 661–671. https://doi.org/10.1242/jeb.038315
- Zimmerman, L. M., Vogel, L. A., Edwards, K. A., & Bowden, R. M. (2010). Phagocytic B cells in a reptile. *Biology Letters*, *6*(2), 270–273. https://doi.org/10.1098/rsbl.2009.0692



CHAPTER III: CHARACTERIZATION OF THE PHAGOCYTIC CAPABILITIES OF THE T. SCRIPTA B CELL

ABSTRACT

The B cell is a crucial component of the adaptive immune response. Traditionally, it is thought to function primarily for antibody production, but studies in our lab have identified a population with phagocytic functionality in the red-eared slider (*Trachemys scripta*). Due to many lines of evidence, we believe the phagocytic B cell in *T. scripta* may be very similar to the B-1 cell in mammals. In this study, we aimed to determine whether their B cells had the ability to recognize differing microbes, explore the size limitations of particle consumption, and determine if these cells possess regulatory functionality as well. Unfortunately, the fluorescent bioparticles that were used in our study were not compatible with our machinery and we were not able to accommodate the many issues that arose during throughout our study. It is our hope that in the future we will repeat this study, with new machinery and/or that our particles compatible. We hope that this study will add more knowledge of reptilian immune cell functionality and give more clues on the occurrence of phagocytic B cells in jawed vertebrates.

1 | INTRODUCTION

1.1 | Phagocytic B Cells In A Reptile

Adaptive immunity is essential for mounting specific immune responses by utilizing T and B cells, while innate immunity is fast acting and relies on non-specific responses from innate cells and molecules. Although B cells are typically associated with antibody production, several subsets of B cells have been identified in mammals (Allman & Pillai, 2008). The major subsets of



mammal B cells are called B-1 cells and B-2 cells. B-2 cells can be thought of as "traditional" B cells that produce many classes of antibodies. They also are located in several lymphoid organs and respond strongly to protein antigens (Allman & Pillai, 2008). B-1 cells, however, have been shown to primarily produce "natural antibodies", which are also referred to as polyreactive antibodies (Herzenberg et al., 1986; Panda & Ding, 2015). Polyreactive antibodies typically have a low binding affinity to multiple epitopes and are usually of the IgM isotype, but natural forms of IgA has been observed as well (Meyer-Bahlburg, 2015). B-1 cells in mammals are found in niche populations mostly located in the pleural and peritoneal cavities and respond well to carbohydrate antigens (Berland & Wortis, 2002b; Gao et al., 2012; L. Zhu et al., 2016).

While the immune system has been well studied in model species, less is known about immunity in non-model species. Following the discovery that some amphibian species and jawed fish contained B cells capable of phagocytosis (J. Li et al., 2006; Øverland et al., 2010), our lab was able to identify such cells in the red-eared slider turtle (*Trachemys scripta*) (Zimmerman, Vogel, Edwards, et al., 2010). The loggerhead turtle (*Caretta caretta*) and green sea turtle (*Chelonia* mydas) have also been reported to contain phagocytic B cells, giving rise to the idea that these types of cells may be conserved amongst most turtles and potentially all reptiles (Rousselet et al., 2013; Q. Zhu et al., 2016). This innate phagocytic functionality is not exclusive to the turtle however and has been subsequently characterized in many mammals such as mice (Gao et al., 2012), humans (Souwer et al., 2009), and non-human primates (Haas, 2015).



www.manaraa.com

It is unknown if B cell subsets exist in reptiles, however, several lines of evidence suggest that their B cell function is more equivalent to mammal B-1 cells. First, characteristics of antibody production in reptiles more closely resemble B-1 than B-2 cells. Following immunization, there is a modest increase in antibody titer in the serum which happens slowly over time and titer does not change significantly with a second exposure (T.M Work et al., 2000; Zimmerman, Vogel, & Bowden, 2010). Generally, the antibodies produced are natural antibodies of low affinity (Zimmerman, Bowden, et al., 2013).

Second, reptilian B cells possess phagocytic capability, which is only observed in the B-1 phenotype in mammals (Parra et al., 2012; Popi, 2015). Preliminary data from our lab suggests that reptilian B cells can phagocytose a large number of inert 1um polystyrene beads (Palackdharry et al., 2017), but how they target phagocytosis is unknown. It's been shown that B-1 cells utilize the B cell receptor for specification in mammals (Gao et al., 2012), but toll-like receptor (TLR) recognition is known to play a role in the maturation process and potentially recognition as well (Meyer-Bahlburg & Rawlings, 2012). Reptilian B cells produce a B cell receptor and sequence data from the painted turtle suggests a variety of TLR genes are present as well (Bradley Shaffer et al., 2013).

Finally, there is potential evidence, that the reptile B cell has regulatory functionality. B-1 cells in mammals have been observed to play a role in inflammation and a subset of B-1 cells have been aptly named, B regulatory cells due to this (Aziz, Holodick, Rothstein, & Wang, 2015). It was observed in preliminary findings, that our B cells seemed to be more aggressive at



consuming polystyrene beads than the co-incubated adherent cells (i.e.

macrophages/monocytes)(Marrochello, 2016). It is known that B regulatory cells possess the ability to secrete IL-10 which decreases the phagocytic ability of macrophages *in-vitro* (Popi, Lopes, & Mariano, 2004).

In order to learn more about these unique cells, we sought out to answer some of the questions mentioned above using *T. scripta*. First, we wanted to determine if the reptile B cell has the ability to recognize different kinds of microbes. Thus, we modified our phagocytic assay to use fluorescent microbes instead of beads as targets. Unfortunately, due to the extreme brightness of the beads, we were unable to distinguish B and non-B cells in the assays. Future studies might resolve the issue by using a fluorochrome to detect B cell staining that is much longer in wavelength than FITC to prevent fluorescent bleed over.

2 | MATERIALS AND METHODS

2.1 | Lymphocyte Collection and Preparation

During the nesting season, female adult *T. scripta* were collected from Banner Marsh (Canton, IL) as approved by the IACUC. A 1:1 ratio of 3-4ml of pooled whole blood was collected and added to RPMI 1640 (Life Technologies) and 1:30 of 0.1M ethylenediaminetetraacetic acid (EDTA; Fisher Scientific) in a 15ml tube. Mixtures were then be carefully layered on a 50% Percoll (MP Biomedicals, LLC) and saline solution with the final result being a 1:1 ratio of blood/RPMI to Percoll/saline. Tubes were then centrifuged at 400xg at 4°C for 5mins without a brake. The resulting buffy coat layer containing leukocytes was extracted and washed with RPMI. A 15ml tube filled RPMI was then centrifuged for 5mins at 1500xg at 4°C with a brake



applied. RPMI was then decanted and resulting pellet was resuspended in 500 μ l of RPMI and counted. Ideal cell concentration should be 6-7 x 10⁶ cells/ml. One ml of resuspended solution was divided into different tubes corresponding to the specific experiment (see below).

2.2 | Phagocytic B cell Assay

In vitro phagocytic assays were carried out as described in L. M. Zimmerman et al., (2013b). Isolated leukocytes were adjusted to at least 5x10⁵ cell/well and incubated with fluorescent bioparticles (20:1), based on another experiment using similar bioparticles (Nuutila & Lilius, 2005) and previous experiments with FITC beads (Fluoresbrite Plain Yellow Green Microspheres, Polysciences) (Zimmerman, Vogel, Edwards, et al., 2010) for control samples. Cells and particles were incubated in 6 well plates at 29-30°C and 5% CO₂ for 3 hours. The cells and bioparticles were collected from the wells by vigorous pipetting and transferred to a collection tube, filled with RPMI and washed for 1500 ×g for 5 min at 4 °C. The cells were resuspended in 2ml of 1x Hanks' Balanced Salt Solution (HBSS, Life Technologies)-1% BSA. In order to wash away non-consumed beads, the beads/bioparticles and cells were layered 1:1 on a cushion of 3%-4.5% Dextrose-Phosphate buffed saline. Following supernatant removal (which contained the free beads), pelleted cells were washed and centrifuged as previously mentioned and resuspended in 400µL 1× Hanks-0.5%-BSA. They were washed again and decanted until only 50µl remain in the tube. A 1:10 ratio of normal rat serum was added to block non-specific binding and 1µl of biotin-labeled anti-turtle light chain monoclonal antibody (HL673 mAb, University of Florida Hybridoma Facility) was incubated for 15mins and the cells were stored on ice. Cells were washed and then stained with 20µl of Streptavidin-spectral red (Southern



www.manaraa.com

Biotech, 0.5mg/ml) diluted 1:1000 in 1× Hanks-0.5%-BSA and incubated in the dark on ice for 15min. They were washed again and 300µl of 1x HBSS-1% BSA was added to prepare the sample for Flow cytometry. In order to avoid high background from the bioparticles, cells were quenched with 200 µl of 1.2 mg/ml of Trypan Blue (MP Biomedicals) prior to running (Nuutila & Lilius, 2005). Cells were analyzed immediately on a Becton Dickinson FACSCalibur flow cytometer. A minimum of 10,000 events were collected and data was analyzed using CellQuest Pro software (BD Biosciences).

2.3 | Bioparticles and Beads

There were three experimental groups: (Bioparticles from *E. coli* only, *S. aureus* only, and *S. cerevisiae* only (Zymosan) that were all FITC-labeled. As a control FITC-labeled (0.5µm) polystyrene beads were used since turtle B cells have previously been shown to phagocytose these particles (Zimmerman, Vogel, Edwards, et al., 2010). Fluorescent bacteria and yeast bioparticles were purchased from ThermoFisher Scientific. Five replicates were attempted per group for statistical comparisons. Experiments were completed in groups. For example, experiment 1 was completed using one blood pool sample with every experimental group at once. A total of five different blood pools were used on five separate days.

2.4 | Microscopy

We utilized a Leica TCS SP2 for confocal microscopy to locate B cells that consumed particles/beads by spotting them on a microscope slide following the phagocytic assay. We also used a Leica DMRBE equipped with darkfield, DIC, and phase contrast as well as fluorescence filter sets for UV, blue, green and GFP excitation to attempt to locate these cells as well. We



replaced the Streptavidin-spectral red stain for Goat anti-Mouse IgG (H+L) Highly Cross-Adsorbed Secondary Antibody, Alexa Fluor 633 and 568 (Thermofisher), as our original filter/laser setup on these microscopes were unable to locate the cells.

3 | RESULTS

3.1 | Bioparticles were too Bright for the BD FACSCalibur

Previous research in our lab developed an assay to examine B cell phagocytosis using polystyrene beads (Zimmerman, Vogel, Edwards, et al., 2010). Because different receptors, such as TLR, may be involved in recognition of actual pathogens, we predicted phagocytosis of pathogens may be more efficient than inert beads. Thus, we modified our phagocytic assay to include Bioparticles obtained from Thermofisher. We selected bioparticles from the major different types of microbes: *E. coli* for Gram-negative bacteria, *S. aureus* for Gram-positive bacteria, and *S. cerevisiae* for yeast. In Figure 8, a typical scatter plot with lymphocyte gating is shown (upper left panel). Staining with HL673 reveals specific B cell staining versus control (no fluorochrome; top middle and right panels). Bottom panels show polystyrene beads alone. Scatter plot on left, normal beads in middle and beads quenched by addition of trypan blue on right.

A phagocytic assay was run with beads and bioparticles as described in methods. In Figure 9, scatter, control staining, and B cell staining are shown for cells that did not receive beads (top panels). Middle and bottom panels show cell populations following the phagocytic assay with the indicated targets. In the bead sample, the upper left quadrant is showing an unusually high



level of B cell staining. Although in the upper right panel we can clearly distinguish phagocytic FITC+ cells, it is not clear they are B cells in this experiment. Likely, too much SA-SR dye was added causing a high background. For the bioparticles, for *E. coli* and *S. aureus*, there is also evidence of a phagocytic population but for the yeast particles, the fluorescent was too intense to distinguish from background.

Based on other reports (Nuutila & Lilius, 2005), we attempted to use Trypan Blue to quench the bright signal. However, the resulted in all cells appearing false positive for the SA-SR dye (Figure 10). Again, we were able to detect phagocytosis in 3 of the 4 samples (not in the yeast sample) but were unable to determine if the cells were truly B cells. Figure 11 illustrates the bioparticles themselves in trypan blue and even with maximal compensation settings the FITC signal was being detected in the FL3 photomultiplier tube. Thus, we were unable to prevent bleed over of the fluorescence into the photomultiplier tube where we collected the B cell signal, and were unable to discriminate phagocytic B and non-B cells.

3.2 | Determination of Phagocytosis by Fluorescent and Confocal Microscopy Due to our difficulty in obtaining data through flow cytometry, we tried to visualize if our bioparticles were ingested by both fluorescent (Figure 12 and 13) and confocal microscopy. We encountered difficulty locating a single B cell that underwent phagocytosis. Usually, ~2-5 percent of B cells undergo phagocytosis in *T. scripta* (Figure 9, Zimmerman et al., 2010b), so visualizing unpurified populations of cells provided a very low probability of occurrence. We also experienced high cell death, which could be due to slide preparation, as we did not fix our



cells prior to staining. Fluorescent microscopy showed that FITC-coated particles were so bright, they were visible in both GFP and RFP filters (Figure 13), as was the case for the flow cytometry. We should note that quenching minimally altered the fluorescence for the scope as well. Confocal microscopic analysis showed us a single potential phagocytic B cell. It was very misshaped, however, and we couldn't be sure if it was an actual B cell. Staining with secondary Alexa 568 and 633 antibodies also didn't show many positive-stained B cells (Figure 12). Thus we were unable to confirm the B cells were ingesting the bioparticles.

4 | DISCUSSION

Innate immunity is thought to have evolved prior to adaptive immunity (Buchmann, 2014; Hirano, Das, Guo, & Cooper, 2011). Many vertebrates have populations of innate immune cells with specialized innate functionality, such as macrophages and neutrophils. Thus, it is of interest why innate immune function might have been retained in some cells of the adaptive immune system, such as the phagocytic B cell identified in *T. scripta*. Understanding how and why these cells contain this innate functionality provides novel information into the evolution of the immune system. At first glance, it would seem that in a system where professional phagocytes currently exist, this redundant function is unnecessary. Because of this, there's been much debate of the origin of the B-1 cell in the mammal, with some scientist conceding to this idea that the B-1 cell could be of the myeloid lineage (Popi, 2015). As studies have progressed, however, the literature has now uncovered the importance of these cells for managing mucosal immunity by the production of IgA (Meyer-Bahlburg, 2015) among other functions such as antigen presentation (Popi, Longo-Maugéri, & Mariano, 2016). Examination of



www.manaraa.com

these cells begs the evolutionary question, are B-1 cells artifacts from innate immunity that specialized to become B-2 cells as the adaptive immune system evolved better microbe recognition strategies or are these cells simply another cell subset? Evidence that these cells are contained within reptiles, amphibians and early jawed fish (J. Li et al., 2006) provide important clues to aid in resolving this argument.

It is unknown whether or not the B cells within *T. scripta* have the ability to recognize and consume different types of microbes or are specialized in their phagocytic targets. Prior phagocytic studies within turtles have only examined the uptake of phagocytic beads, but we suspect pattern recognition receptors for microbial components may also play a role in this process. Particle uptake in professional phagocytes has also been shown to decrease as the size of the target increases in many different studies (Cannon & Swanson, 1992). If the size of the target becomes too large, the B cell may attempt phagocytosis but fail ("frustrated phagocytosis"), or it may switch to produce antibodies instead. As of now, no study has sought out to see the size limitation of phagocytosis in phagocytic B cells or if the cells switch to antibody production in *T. scripta*. Thus, we'd propose to investigate this in future studies using beads and particles of different sizes.

It is currently not known if the B cell has antigen presentation capability following phagocytosis. It has been reported in the literature in mice that both B-1 and B-2 cells have the capability to also aid in antigen presentation (Lee-Chang et al., 2016; Popi et al., 2016). A future goal in our lab is to determine whether or not this ability is retained within the reptilian B cell. A recent



study was done in the turbot (*Scophthalmus maximus*) that determined that teleosts B cells rely heavily on micropinocytosis for particle uptake (Y. Li, Sun, & Li, 2018). It remains an open question if the reptile B cell utilizes these same mechanisms and future studies aim to explore this as well.

5 | CONCLUSIONS

We originally aimed to learn more about the phagocytic functionality within the B cell in *T*. *scripta* in the 2017 nesting season. Unfortunately, due to many technical issues, this study was unable to be completed. The various bioparticles we chose to use proved to be much more fluorescent than we expected. Despite many efforts to work around this issue by quenching, altering compensation/voltages in flow cytometry, and utilizing fluorescent and confocal microscopy, we were still unsuccessful in relevant data collection. It is our hope in the future to reattempt the proposed experiments and learn more about the phagocytic B cell in the reptile.





Fig. 8 Sample flow cytometry analysis showing gating of cell/bead populations. Top left: Scatter plots with forward scatter (FSC) and side scatter (SSC) showing gating of lymphocyte populations. Top middle: Cells that did not receive SA-SR. Top right: cells stained with HL673. Bottom left: scatter plot showing beads alone. Bottom middle: fluorescence of beads only and bottom right: beads quenched with trypan blue. Representative histograms from an individual blood pool are shown.





Fig. 9 Turtle blood cells were able to phagocytose bioparticles, but fluorescence bleed over prohibited identification of B cells. Top left: scatter plot of the blood sample. Top middle; Control staining without SA-SR. Top right; Stained cells without beads stained for B cells. Middle and bottom panels: Cells incubated with various indicated target particles and stained with HL673-SA-SR. Representative histograms from an individual blood pool are shown.





Fig. 10 Trypan blue failed to quench fluorescence bleed over. Samples were prepared as in Figure 9 and trypan blue was added immediately prior to analysis.





Fig. 11 Bioparticles quenched without cells still prove to be too bright. Bioparticles were incubated directly in trypan blue and analyzed as in Figures 9 and 10





Fig. 12 Fluorescent microscopy failed to detect stained lymphocytes. Following the phagocytic assay with various bioparticles, samples were spotted onto a microscope slide and viewed under the confocal microscope A) Bright field image of a potential lymphocyte and a structure of unknown origin B) Same field of view as A but using the RFP filter.





Fig. 13 Bioparticles show false positive in GFP and RFP filters. A) Brightfield image with an arrow indicating a blood cell and bioparticles in the background. B) A GFP-Filter indicating E. coli particles clumped together with no interaction with blood cell. C) An RFP-Filter with arrows indicating that bioparticles show false positive in this filter.



REFERENCES

- Allman, D., & Pillai, S. (2008). Peripheral B cell subsets. *Current Opinion in Immunology*, 20(2), 149–157. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.coi.2008.03.014
- Aziz, M., Holodick, N. E., Rothstein, T. L., & Wang, P. (2015). The role of B-1 cells in inflammation. *Immunologic Research*, 63(1–3), 153–166. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12026-015-8708-3
- Berland, R., & Wortis, H. H. (2002). Origins and functions of B-1 cells with notes on the role of CD5. Annual Review of Immunology, 20(1), 253–300.
 https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev.immunol.20.100301.064833
- Bradley Shaffer, H., Minx, P., Warren, D. E., Shedlock, A. M., Thomson, R. C., Valenzuela, N., ...
 Wilson, R. K. (2013). The western painted turtle genome, a model for the evolution of extreme physiological adaptations in a slowly evolving lineage. *Genome Biology*, *14*(3), R28. https://doi.org/10.1186/gb-2013-14-3-r28
- Buchmann, K. (2014). Evolution of Innate Immunity: Clues from Invertebrates via Fish to Mammals. *Frontiers in Immunology*, *5*(SEP), 459.

https://doi.org/10.3389/fimmu.2014.00459

- Cannon, G. J., & Swanson, J. A. (1992). The macrophage capacity for phagocytosis. *Journal of Cell Science*, *101*(4), 907 LP-913.
- Gao, J., Ma, X., Gu, W., Fu, M., An, J., Xing, Y., ... Liu, Y. (2012). Novel functions of murine B1 cells: Active phagocytic and microbicidal abilities. *European Journal of Immunology*, *42*(4), 982–992. https://doi.org/10.1002/eji.201141519

Haas, K. M. (2015). B-1 lymphocytes in mice and nonhuman primates. Annals of the New York



Academy of Sciences, 1362(1), 98–109. https://doi.org/10.1111/nyas.12760

- Herzenberg, L. A., Stall, A. M., Lalor, P. A., Sidman, C., Moore, W. A., & Parks, D. R. (1986). The LY-1B Cell Lineage. *Immunological Reviews*, *93*(1), 81–102. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1600-065X.1986.tb01503.x
- Hirano, M., Das, S., Guo, P., & Cooper, M. D. (2011). The evolution of adaptive immunity in vertebrates. Advances in Immunology, 109, 125–157. https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-12-387664-5.00004-2
- Lee-Chang, C., Bodogai, M., Moritoh, K., Chen, X., Wersto, R., Sen, R., ... Biragyn, A. (2016). Aging Converts Innate B1a Cells into Potent CD8+ T Cell Inducers. *The Journal of Immunology*, *196*(8), 3385–3397. https://doi.org/10.4049/jimmunol.1502034
- Li, J., Barreda, D. R., Zhang, Y.-A., Boshra, H., Gelman, A. E., LaPatra, S., ... Sunyer, J. O. (2006). B lymphocytes from early vertebrates have potent phagocytic and microbicidal abilities. *Nature Immunology*, 7(10), 1116–1124. https://doi.org/10.1038/ni1389
- Li, Y., Sun, L., & Li, J. (2018). Internalization of large particles by turbot (*Scophthalmus maximus*) IgM + B cells mainly depends on macropinocytosis. *Developmental & Comparative Immunology*, *82*, 31–38. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.dci.2017.12.028
- Marrochello, S. M. (2016, March 17). *an Investigation Into B Cells in Peripheral Blood and Gut Associated Lymphoid Tissues in the Red Eared Slider Turtle, Trachemys Scripta. Theses and Dissertations*. Illinois State University.
- Meyer-Bahlburg, A. (2015). B-1 cells as a source of IgA. *Annals of the New York Academy of Sciences*, *1362*(1), 122–131. https://doi.org/10.1111/nyas.12801



- Meyer-Bahlburg, A., & Rawlings, D. J. (2012). Differential impact of Toll-like receptor signaling on distinct B cell subpopulations. *Frontiers in Bioscience (Landmark Edition)*, *17*, 1499– 1516.
- Nuutila, J., & Lilius, E. M. (2005). Flow cytometric quantitative determination of ingestion by phagocytes needs the distinguishing of overlapping populations of binding and ingesting cells. *Cytometry Part A*, *65*(2), 93–102. https://doi.org/10.1002/cyto.a.20139
- Øverland, H. S., Pettersen, E. F., Rønneseth, A., & Wergeland, H. I. (2010). Phagocytosis by Bcells and neutrophils in Atlantic salmon (*Salmo salar L*.) and Atlantic cod (*Gadus morhua L*.). *Fish & Shellfish Immunology*, *28*(1), 193–204. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.fsi.2009.10.021
- Palackdharry, S., Sadd, B. M., Vogel, L. A., & Bowden, R. M. (2017). The effect of environmental temperature on reptilian peripheral blood B cell functions. *Hormones and Behavior, 88*, 87–94. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.yhbeh.2016.10.008
- Panda, S., & Ding, J. L. (2015). Natural Antibodies Bridge Innate and Adaptive Immunity. *The Journal of Immunology*, *194*(1), 13–20. https://doi.org/10.4049/jimmunol.1400844
- Parra, D., Rieger, A. M., Li, J., Zhang, Y.-A., Randall, L. M., Hunter, C. A., ... Sunyer, J. O. (2012).
 Pivotal Advance: Peritoneal cavity B-1 B cells have phagocytic and microbicidal capacities and present phagocytosed antigen to CD4+ T cells. *Journal of Leukocyte Biology*, *91*(4), 525–536. https://doi.org/10.1189/jlb.0711372
- Popi, A. F. (2015). B-1 phagocytes: the myeloid face of B-1 cells. *Annals of the New York Academy of Sciences*, *1362*(1), 86–97. https://doi.org/10.1111/nyas.12814



Popi, A. F., Longo-Maugéri, I. M., & Mariano, M. (2016). An Overview of B-1 Cells as Antigen-Presenting Cells. *Frontiers in Immunology*, *7*, 138. https://doi.org/10.3389/fimmu.2016.00138

Popi, A. F., Lopes, J. D., & Mariano, M. (2004). Interleukin-10 secreted by B-1 cells modulates the phagocytic activity of murine macrophages in vitro. *Immunology*, *113*(3), 348–354. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2567.2004.01969.x

- Rousselet, E., Levin, M., Gebhard, E., Higgins, B. M., DeGuise, S., & Godard-Codding, C. A. J. (2013). Evaluation of immune functions in captive immature loggerhead sea turtles (*Caretta caretta*). *Veterinary Immunology and Immunopathology*, *156*(1–2), 43–53. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.vetimm.2013.09.004
- Souwer, Y., Griekspoor, A., Jorritsma, T., de Wit, J., Janssen, H., Neefjes, J., & van Ham, S. M. (2009). B Cell Receptor-Mediated Internalization of Salmonella: A Novel Pathway for Autonomous B Cell Activation and Antibody Production. *The Journal of Immunology*, *182*(12), 7473–7481. https://doi.org/10.4049/jimmunol.0802831
- Work, T. ., Balazs, G. ., Rameyer, R. ., Chang, S. ., & Berestecky, J. (2000). Assessing humoral and cell-mediated immune response in Hawaiian green turtles, *Chelonia mydas*. *Veterinary Immunology and Immunopathology*, *74*(3–4), 179–194. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0165-2427(00)00168-9
- Zhu, L., Shao, T., Nie, L., Zhu, L.-Y., Xiang, L.-X., & Shao, J.-Z. (2016). Evolutionary implication of
 B-1 lineage cells from innate to adaptive immunity. *Molecular Immunology*, 69, 123–130.
 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.molimm.2015.10.014



Zhu, Q., Zhang, M., Shi, M., Liu, Y., Zhao, Q., Wang, W., ... Zhao, G. (2016). Human B cells have an active phagocytic capability and undergo immune activation upon phagocytosis of Mycobacterium tuberculosis. *Immunobiology*, *221*(4), 558–567.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.imbio.2015.12.003

- Zimmerman, L. M., Bowden, R. M., & Vogel, L. A. (2013). Red-Eared Slider Turtles Lack Response to Immunization with Keyhole Limpet Hemocyanin but Have High Levels of Natural Antibodies. *ISRN Zoology*, 2013(7), 1–7. https://doi.org/10.1155/2013/858941
- Zimmerman, L. M., Clairardin, S. G., Paitz, R. T., Hicke, J. W., LaMagdeleine, K. A., Vogel, L. A., &
 Bowden, R. M. (2013). Humoral immune responses are maintained with age in a long-lived
 ectotherm, the red-eared slider turtle. *The Journal of Experimental Biology*, *216*(Pt 4), 633–640. https://doi.org/10.1242/jeb.078832
- Zimmerman, L. M., Vogel, L. A., & Bowden, R. M. (2010). Understanding the vertebrate immune system: insights from the reptilian perspective. *Journal of Experimental Biology*, 213(5), 661–671. https://doi.org/10.1242/jeb.038315
- Zimmerman, L. M., Vogel, L. A., Edwards, K. A., & Bowden, R. M. (2010). Phagocytic B cells in a reptile. *Biology Letters*, 6(2), 270–273. https://doi.org/10.1098/rsbl.2009.0692

